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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained herein constitute forward-looking statements as such term is defined in Section
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of performance. The Company’s future results, financial
condition, results of operations and business may differ materially from those expressed in these forward-looking
statements. You can find many of these statements by looking for words such as “believes,” “expects,”
“anticipates,” “estimates,” “I ? “plans” or other similar expressions in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

”

intends,
These forward-looking statements represent our intentions, plans, expectations and beliefs and are subject to
numerous assumptions, risks and uncertainties. Many of the factors that will determine these items are beyond our
ability to control or predict. Factors that might cause such a material difference include, but are not limited to: (a)
national, regional and local economic conditions; (b) the consequences of any armed conflict involving, or terrorist
attack against, the United States; (¢) our ability to secure adequate insurance; (d) local conditions, such as an
oversupply of space or a reduction in demand for real estate in the area; (€) competition from other available space;
(f) whether tenants consider a property attractive; (g) the financial condition of our tenants, including the extent of
tenant bankruptcies or defaults; (h) whether we are able to pass some or all of any increased operating costs we incur
through to our tenants; (i) how well we manage our properties; (j) any increase in interest rates; (k) any decreases in
market rental rates; (1) the timing and costs associated with property development, improvements and rentals; (m)
changes in taxation or zoning laws; (n) government regulations; (o) our failure to continue to qualify as a real estate
investment trust; (p) availability of financing on acceptable terms or at all; (q) potential liability under
environmental or other laws or regulations; (r) general competitive factors; (s) dependence upon Vornado Realty
Trust; and (t) possible conflicts of interest with Vornado Realty Trust.

For these forward-looking statements, the Company claims the protection of the safe harbor for forward-
looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. You are cautioned not to
place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K or the date of the applicable document incorporated by reference. All subsequent written and oral
forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or any person acting on its behalf are expressly qualified in
their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section. The Company undertakes no
obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise.




PARTI
ITEM1. BUSINESS

GENERAL

Alexander’s, Inc. (the “Company” or “Alexander’s”) is a real estate investment trust (“REIT”), incorporated in
Delaware, engaged in leasing, managing, developing and redeveloping properties. Alexander’s activities are conducted
through its manager, Vornado Realty Trust (“Vormado”).

Alexander’s has six properties in the greater New York City metropolitan area consisting of:

Operating properties

(1) the Kings Plaza Regional Shopping Center, located on Flatbush Avenue in Brooklyn, New York, which
contains 1,098,000 square feet and is comprised of a two-level mall containing 470,000 square feet, a
289,000 square foot department store leased to Sears and another anchor department store owned and
operated as a Macy’s by Federated Department Stores, Inc.;

(i)  the Rego Park I property, located on Queens Boulevard and 63 Road in Queens, New York, which
contains a 351,000 square foot building that is 100% leased to Sears, Circuit City, Bed Bath & Beyond,
Marshalls and Old Navy;

(iii)  the Paramus property, which consists of 30.3 acres of land located at the intersection of Routes 4 and 17
in Paramus, New Jersey, which is leased to IKEA Property, Inc; and

(iv)  the Flushing property, located at Roosevelt Avenue and Main Street in Flushing, New York, which
contains a 177,000 square foot building that is currently vacant;

Property under development

(v)  the Lexington Avenue development property, which comprises the entire square block bounded by
Lexington Avenue, East 59 Street, Third Avenue and East 58 Street in Manhattan, New York; and

Property to be developed

(vi)  the Rego Park II property, which comprises one and one-half square blocks of vacant land adjacent to
the Rego Park I property.

Lexington Avenue

The development at Lexington Avenue consists of an approximately 1.3 million square foot multi-use building.
The building will contain approximately 885,000 net rentable square feet of office space, approximately 171,000 net
rentable square feet of retail space and approximately 248,000 net saleable square feet of residential space consisting
of condominium units (through a taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS”)). Of the construction budget of $630,000,000
(which excludes $29,000,000 for development and guarantee fees to Vornado), $402,000,000 has been expended
through December 31, 2003 and an additional $62,200,000 has been committed to at December 31, 2003.
Construction is expected to be completed in 2005.

On May 1, 2001, the Company entered into a triple-net lease with Bloomberg L.P. for approximately 695,000
square feet of office space at the Lexington Avenue property (the “Bloomberg Space™). The initial term of the lease
is 25 years with a ten-year renewal option. Base annual net rent is $34,529,000 in each of the first four years and
338,533,000 in the fifth year with a similar percentage increase each four years thereafter. On November 15, 2003, the
Company delivered approximately 87% of the space. As of February 9, 2004, all of the Bloomberg Space has been
delivered. Payment of base rent commences nine months from delivery of each parcel of space; rent recognition
commenced from delivery of space.

At December 31, 2003, 115,000 square feet of retail space has been leased, of which The Home Depot and
Hennes & Mauritz have leased 83,000 and 27,000 square feet, respectively. The Company expects to deliver the
leased space in 2004. Payment of base rent commences six to nine months from delivery of each space; rent
recognition commences on delivery of space.




The residential space is comprised of 105 condominium units. The original offering plan filed for these units, as
amended for price increases through December 31, 2003, would produce (inclusive of the value of existing contracts)
an aggregate sale price of 3457,000,000. As of December 31, 2003, the Company has received deposits of
$10,425,000 on sales of the condominium units.

Financing of the Project

On February 13, 2004, the Company completed a $400,000,000 mortgage financing on the office space. The loan
was placed by German American Capital Corporation, an affiliate of Deutsche Bank. The loan bears interest at 5.33%,
matures in February 2014 and beginning in the third year, provides for principal payments based on a 25-year
amortization schedule such that over the remaining eight years of the loan, ten years of amortization will be paid.
$253,529,000 of the loan proceeds was used to repay the entire amount outstanding under the previously existing
construction loan (the “Construction Loan”) with Hypo Real Estate Capital Corporation.

The Construction Loan was modified so that the remaining availability is $237,000,000, which is approximately
the amount estimated to complete the Lexington Avenue development project (not including $29,000,000 for
development and guarantee fees to Vornado). The interest rate of the Construction Loan of LIBOR plus 2.5% (3.64%
at December 31, 2003) and the maturity date of January 2006, with two one-year extensions, were not changed. The
collateral for the Construction Loan is the same except that the office space has been removed from the lien. Further,
the Construction Loan permits the release of the retail space for a payment of $15 million and requires all proceeds
from the sale of the residential condominium units to be applied to the Construction Loan balance until it is finally
repaid. Vornado has agreed to guarantee to the construction lender, the lien free, timely completion of the
construction of the Lexington Avenue project and funding of project costs in excess of a stated loan budget, if not
funded by the Company (the “Completion Guarantee”). If Vornado should advance any funds under the Completion
Guarantee in excess of $21,000,000, which is the amount currently available under the line of credit with Vornado,
interest on those advances would be at 15% per annum.

There can be no assurance that the Lexington Avenue project will be completed on time or completed for the
budgeted amount. Any failure to complete the Lexington Avenue project on time or within budget may adversely
affect future cash flows and funds from operations, and the Company’s financial condition.

Significant Tenants

Sears accounted for 18%, 19% and 21% of the Company’s consolidated revenues for the years ended December
31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. No other tenant accounted for more than 10% of revenues. Rents from the
Bloomberg L.P. lease will represent a significant portion of revernues in 2004,

Liquidity

In the aggregate, Alexander’s operating properties do not generate sufficient cash flow to pay all of its expenses.
After the completion of the Lexington Avenue property, which is expected in 2005, the Company expects that cash
flow will become positive. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources” for a further discussion.

Relationship with Vornado Realty Trust

Vomado owned 33.1% of the Company’s common stock as of December 31, 2003. Steven Roth is the Chief
Executive Officer and a director of the Company, the Managing General Partner of Interstate Properties (“Interstate™), a
New Jersey general partnership, and the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Vormnado. At December
31, 2003, Mr. Roth, Interstate and its other two general partners, David Mandelbaum and Russell B. Wight, Jr. (who
are also directors of the Company and trustees of Vornado), owned, in the aggregate, 27.5% of the outstanding
common stock of the Company, in addition to the common stock owned directly by Vomado, and 11.7% of the
outstanding common shares of beneficial interest of Vorado.

The Company is managed, and its properties are leased, by Vomado pursuant to management, leasing and
development agreements. Vornado is a fully-integrated REIT with significant experience owning, developing,
"leasing, operating and managing retail and office properties. Further, in conjunction with the Company’s Lexington
Avenue development project, Vornado has agreed to guarantee to the construction lender, the lien free, timely
completion of the construction of the project and funding of project costs in excess of a stated loan budget, if not
funded by the Company. These agreements are more fully described in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Relationship with
Vormado Realty Trust.”
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At December 31, 2003, the Company was indebted to Vornado in the amount of $124,000,000, comprised of
(i) a $95,000,000 note and (ii) $29,000,000 under a $50,000,000 line of credit (which carries a 1% unused
commitment fee). The current interest rate on the loan and line of credit is 12.48% and resets quarterly using a
9.48% spread to one-year treasury with a 3% floor for treasuries. On July 3, 2002, in conjunction with the closing of
the Construction Loan, the maturity of the Vornado debt was extended to the earlier of January 3, 2006 or the date
the Construction Loan is finally repaid. The Construction Loan matures on January 3, 2006 subject to two one-year
extensions. In addition, any amounts which may be due under the Completion Guarantee are due at the same time.

Environmental Matters

In June 1997, the Kings Plaza Regional Shopping Center commissioned an Environmental Study and
Contamination Assessment Site Investigation (the “Phase II Study”) to evaluate and delineate environmental
conditions disclosed in a Phase I study. The results of the Phase II Study indicated the presence of petroleum and
bis (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate contamination in the soil and groundwater. The Company has delineated the
contamination and has developed a remediation approach, which is ongoing. The New York State Department of
Environmental Conservation (“NYDEC”) has approved a portion of the remediation approach. The Company
accrued $2,675,000 in previous years, of which $2,436,000 has been paid as of December 31, 2003, for its estimated
obligation with respect to the cleanup of the site, and which includes costs of (i) remedial investigation, (ii)
feasibility studies, (iii) remedial design, (iv) remedial action and (v) professional fees. If NYDEC insists on a more
extensive remediation approach, the Company could incur additional obligations.

The Company has concluded that the large majority of the contamination at the site is historic and the result of
past activities of third parties. Although the Company is pursuing claims against potentially responsible third
parties, and negotiations are ongoing with a former owner of the property, there can be no assurance as to the extent
that the Company will be successful in obtaining recovery from such parties of the remediation costs incurred. In
addition, the costs associated with further pursuit of responsible parties may be cost prohibitive. The Company has
not recorded an asset as of December 31, 2003 for possible recoveries of environmental remediation costs from
potentially responsible third parties.

Competition

The Company conducts its real estate operations in the greater New York metropolitan area, a highly competitive
market. The Company’s success depends upon, among other factors, trends of national and local economies, the
financial condition and operating results of current and prospective tenants, the availability and cost of capital, interest
rates, construction and renovation costs, taxes, governmental regulations and legislation, population trends, zoning
laws, and the ability of the Company to lease, sublease or sell its properties, including the condominium units at the
Lexington Avenue project, at profitable levels. The Company competes with a large number of real estate property
owners and developers. In addition, although the Company believes that it will realize significant value from its
properties over time, the Company anticipates that it may take a number of years before all of its properties generate
cash flow at or near anticipated levels. The Company’s success is also subject to its ability to finance development
projects and refinance existing debts as they come due and on acceptable terms.

Employees
The Company currently has one corporate level employee and 34 property level employees.
Available Information

Copies of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on
Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports, as well as filings on Forms 3, 4 and 5 regarding officers, directors, and
10% beneficial owners of the Company, filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a), 15(d) or 16(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, are available free of charge through the Company’s website (www.alx-inc.com) as soon as
reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”). The Company also has made available, on the website, copies of the Company’s (1) Audit Committee
charter, (ii) Compensation Committee charter, (iii) code of business conduct and ethics and (iv) corporate governance
guidelines. In the event of any changes to these items, changed copies will be made available on the website.

Vornado and Interstate filed, on April 11, 2000, the 26" amendment to, a Form 13D with the SEC indicating that
they, as a group own in excess of 51% of the common stock of the Company. This ownership level makes the
Company a “controlled” company for the purposes of the New York Stock Exchange, Inc.’s corporate governance
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Standards (the “NYSE Rules”). In turn, this means that the Company is not required by the NYSE Rules, among other
things, to have a majority of the members of its Board of Directors be independent under the NYSE Rules, to have all
of its members of its Compensation Committee be independent under the NYSE Rules or to have a Nominating
Committee. While the Company has voluntarily complied with the majority independence requirements, it is under no
obligation to do so and this situation may change at anytime.

The Company is a Delaware corporation. Its principal executive office is 210 Route 4 East, Paramus, New Jersey
07652 and its telephone number is (201) 587-8541.

Risk Factors

Set forth below are the risks and certain factors that may adversely affect the Company’s business and
operations. This section contains forward-looking statements. Refer to the qualifications and limitations on
forward-looking statements on page 3.

Real Estate Investments’ Value and Income Fluctuate Due to Various Factors.

The value of real estate fluctuates depending on conditions in the general economy and the real estate industry.
These conditions may also limit the Company’s revenues and available cash.

The factors that affect the value of the Company’s real estate include:
e  national, regional and local economic conditions,
o the consequences of any armed conflict involving, or terrorist attack against, the United States,
o  the Company’s ability to secure adequate insurance,

»  local conditions, such as an oversupply of space or a reduction in demand for real estate in the
area,

e  competition from other available space,
*  whether tenants consider a property attractive,

o the financial condition of the Company’s tenants, including the extent of tenant bankruptcies or
defaults,

e  whether the Company is able to pass some or all of any increased operating costs it incurs
through to tenants,

*  how well the Company manages its properties,

*  any increase in interest rates,

e  any increase in real estate taxes and other expenses,

e  any decreases in market rental rates,

o the timing and costs associated with property development, improvements and rentals,
¢  changes in taxation or zoning laws,

e  government regulations,

e  the Company’s failure to continue to qualify as a REIT,

e  availability of financing on acceptable terms or at all,

e  potential liability under environmental or other laws or regulations, and

e  general competitive factors.




The rents the Company receives and the occupancy levels at its properties may decline as a result of adverse
changes in any of these factors. Some of the Company’s major expenses and payments, including mortgage payments,
real estate taxes and maintenance costs, generally do not decline when the related rents decline. If rents decline while
costs remain constant, the Company’s income and funds available for the payment of its indebtedness and for
distribution to its security holders will decline.

The Company depends on leasing space to tenants on economically favorable terms and collecting rent from its
tenants, some of which may not be able to pay.

The Company’s financial results depend on leasing space in its properties to tenants on economically favorable
terms. In addition, because substantially all of its income comes from rentals of real property, the Company’s income
and funds available for the payment of its indebtedness and for distribution to security holders will decrease if a
significant number of tenants cannot pay their rents. If a tenant does not pay its rent, the Company might not be able to
enforce its rights as landlord without delays and might incur substantial legal costs. For information regarding risks
associated with bankruptcy of our tenants, see “— Bankruptcy of tenants may decrease the Company’s revenues and
available cash.” below.

Some of the Company’s tenants represent a significant portion of its revenues. Loss of these tenant relationships
or deterioration in the tenants’ credit quality could adversely affect results.

Sears accounted for 18%, 19% and 21% of the Company’s consolidated revenues for the years ended December
31,2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. In addition, at the Lexington Avenue property, Bloomberg L.P. has entered into
a long-term lease for 695,000 of the 885,000 net rentable square feet of office space at that site. It is expected that the
rents from the Bloomberg L.P. lease will also represent a significant portion of revenues in 2004. If the Company fails
to maintain a relationship with any of its significant tenants or fails to perform its obligations under agreements with
these tenants, or if any of these tenants fails or becomes unable to perform its obligations under the agreements, the
Company expects that any one or more of these events would adversely affect the Company’s results of operations and
financial condition.

Bankruptcy of tenants may decrease the Company’s revenues and available cash.

A number of companies, including some of the Company’s tenants, have declared bankruptcy in recent years, and
other tenants may declare bankruptcy or become insolvent in the future. If a major tenant declares bankruptcy or
becomes insolvent, the property at which it leases space may have lower revenues and operational difficulties, and, in
the case of its shopping centers, the Company may have difficulty leasing the remainder of the affected property. The
Company’s leases generally do not contain restrictions designed to ensure the creditworthiness of tenants. As a result,
the bankruptcy or insolvency of a major tenant could result in a lower level of funds available for the payment of its
indebtedness and for distribution to security holders.

Some of the Company’s potential losses may not be covered by insurance.

The Company carries comprehensive liability and all-risk property insurance (fire, flood, extended coverage and
rental loss insurance) with respect to its assets but is at risk for financial loss in excess of the policies’ limits. Such a
loss could be material.

The Company’s all-risk insurance policies in effect before September 11, 2001 did not expressly exclude
coverage for hostile acts, except acts of war. Since September 11, 2001, but prior to the enactment of the Terrorism
Risk Insurance Act of 2002, insurance companies had, for the most part, excluded terrorist acts from coverage in all-
risk policies. The Company was generally unable to obtain all-risk insurance that includes coverage for terrorist acts
for policies renewed during that period.

The Company’s debt instruments, consisting of mortgage loans secured by its properties (which are generally
non-recourse to the Company), contain customary covenants requiring the Company to maintain insurance. There can
be no assurance that the lenders under these instruments will not take the position that an exclusion from all-risk
insurance coverage for losses due to terrorist acts is a breach of these debt instruments, allowing the lenders to declare
an event of default and accelerate repayment of debt. In addition, if lenders insist on coverage for these risks, it may
adversely affect the Company’s ability to finance and/or refinance its properties and businesses, including the
construction of the Lexington Avenue development property.

On November 26, 2002, the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 was signed into law. Under this new
legislation, through 2004 (with a possible extension through 2005), regulated insurers must offer coverage in their
commercial property and casualty policies (including existing policies) for losses resulting from defined “acts of
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terrorism.”  As a result of the legislation, in June 2003, the Company obtained $500,000,000 of coverage per
occurrence for certified terrorist acts, as defined in the legislation, and $150,000,000 per occurrence for non-certified
acts, In addition, on February 13, 2004, the Company increased the builders’ risk insurance coverage for its Lexington
Avenue project, which includes full coverage for certified terrorist acts, per occurrence, and $200,000,000 for non-
certified acts, per occurrence. Therefore, the Company is at risk for financial loss in excess of these limits for terrorist
acts, as defined by the policies and the legislation. Such loss could be material. Prior to June 2003, the Company had
$200,000,000 of separate aggregate coverage for terrorist acts.

The Company has made a significant investment in the development of its Lexington Avenue property. The
Sailure to complete construction on time and within budget would adversely affect the Company’s results of
operations and financial condition.

The development at Lexington Avenue consists of an approximately 1.3 million square foot multi-use building.
The building will contain approximately 885,000 net rentable square feet of office space, approximately 171,000 net
rentable square feet of retail space, and approximately 248,000 net saleable square feet of residential space consisting,
of condominium units (through a TRS). There can be no assurance that the Lexington Avenue project will be
completed on time or completed for the budgeted amount. Any failure to complete the Lexington Avenue project on
time or within budget may adversely affect future cash flows and funds from operations, and the Company’s financial
condition.

The Company may acquire or develop new properties, and this may create risks.

In addition to the Lexington Avenue project, the Company may acquire or develop other properties or acquire
other real estate companies when it believes that an acquisition or development is consistent with its business strategies.
It may not, however, succeed in consummating desired acquisitions or in completing developments, including the
Lexington Avenue property, on time or within budget. The Company also might not succeed in leasing newly
developed or acquired properties, including the Lexington Avenue property, at rents sufficient to cover their costs of
acquisition or development and operations.

The Company may not be permitted to dispose of certain properties or pay down the debt associated with those
Droperties when it might otherwise desire to do se without incurring additional costs.

As part of an acquisition of a property, the Company may agree with the seller that it will not dispose of the
acquired property or reduce the mortgage indebtedness on the property for significant periods of time unless it pays
certain of the resulting tax costs of the seller. These agreements could result in the Company holding on to properties
that it would otherwise sell and not paying down or refinancing indebtedness that it would otherwise pay down or
refinance.

It may be difficult to buy and sell real estate quickly, and transfer restrictions apply to some of the Company’s
mortgaged properties.

Equity real estate investments are difficult to buy and sell quickly. Therefore, the Company has limited ability to
vary its portfolio promptly in response to changes in economic or other conditions. Some of the Company’s properties
are mortgaged to secure payment of indebtedness. If it was unable to mest its mortgage payments, lenders could
foreclose on properties and the Company could incur losses. In addition, if it wishes to dispose of one or more of the
mortgaged properties, it may not be able to obtain release of the liens on the mortgaged properties. If a lender
forecloses on a mortgaged property or if a mortgage lien prevents the Company from selling a property or a portion
thereof, funds available for payment of indebtedness and for distribution to security holders may decline. For
information relating to the mortgages on the Company’s properties, see “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Debt and Contractual
Obligations” and the notes to the consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

All of the Company’s properties are in the greater New York City metropolitan area and are affected by the
economic cycles and risks inherent in that region.

During the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, all of the Company’s revenues came from properties
located in the New York City metropolitan area and in Paramus, New Jersey. Like other real estate markets, the real
estate market in this area has experienced economic downturns in the past, and the Company cannot predict how the
current economic conditions will impact this market in both the short and long term. Further declines in the economy
or a decline in the real estate market in this area could hurt the Company’s financial performance and the value of the
Company’s properties. The factors affecting economic conditions in this region include:
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¢  business layoffs or downsizing,

e  industry slowdowns,

e  relocations of businesses,

e  changing demographics,

e  increased telecommuting and use of alternative work places,

e  financial performance and productivity of the publishing, advertising, financial, technology,
retail, insurance and real estate industries,

e  infrastructure quality, and

e  any oversupply of, or reduced demand for, real estate.

It is impossible for the Company to assess the future effects of the current uncertain trends in the economic and
investment climates of the greater New York City metropolitan region, and more generally of the United States, on the
real estate market in this area. If these conditions persist, they may adversely affect the Company’s businesses and
future profitability.

The Company may incur costs in complying with environmental laws.

The Company’s operations and properties are subject to various federal, state and local laws, ordinances and
regulations concerning the protection of the environment, including air and water quality, hazardous substances and
health and safety. Under certain of these environmental laws, a current or previous owner or operator of real estate
may be required to investigate and cleanup hazardous or toxic substances released at a property. The owner or operator
may also be held liable to a government entity or to third parties for property damage or personal injuries and for
investigation and cleanup costs incurred by those parties because of the contamination. These laws often impose
liability without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of the release of the substances or caused the release.
The presence of contamination or the failure to remediate contamination may impair the Company’s ability to sell or
lease real estate or to borrow using the real estate as collateral. Other laws and regulations govern indoor and outdoor
air quality, including those that can require the abatement or removal of materials containing asbestos in the event of
damages, demolition, renovations or remodeling, and also govern emissions of, and exposure to, asbestos fibers in the
air. The maintenance and removal of lead paint, certain electrical equipment containing polychlorinated biphenyls and
underground storage tanks are also regulated by federal and state laws. The Company could incur fines for
environmental compliance and be held liable for the costs of remedial action with respect to the foregoing regulated
substances or tanks or related claims arising out of environmental contamination or exposure at or from its properties.

Each of the Company’s properties has been subjected to varying degrees of environmental assessment at various
times. The environmental assessments did not reveal any material environmental condition except as noted in the
following paragraph. However, identification of new compliance concerns or undiscovered areas of contamination,
changes in the extent or known scope of contamination, discovery of additional sites, human exposure to the
contamination or changes in cleanup or compliance requirements could result in significant costs to the Company.

In June 1997, the Kings Plaza Regional Shopping Center commissioned the Phase II Study to evaluate and
delineate environmental conditions disclosed in a Phase I study. The results of the Phase II study indicated the
presence of petroleum and bis (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate contamination in the soil and groundwater. The Company has
delineated the contamination and have developed a remediation approach, which is ongoing. NYDEC has approved a
portion of the remediation approach. The Company accrued $2,675,000 in previous years, of which $2,436,000 has
been paid as of December 31, 2003, for its estimated obligation with respect to the cleanup of the site, and which
includes costs of (i) remedial investigation, (ii) feasibility studies, (iii) remedial design, (iv) remedial action and (v)
professional fees. If NYDEC insists on a more extensive remediation approach, the Company could incur additional
obligations. The Company can make no assurance that it will not incur additional environmental costs with respect to

this property.
Real estate is a competitive business.

The Company operates in a highly competitive environment. All of its properties are located in the New York
City metropolitan area and Paramus, New Jersey. The Company competes with a large number of real estate property
owners and developers. Principal factors of competition are the amount of rent charged, attractiveness of location and
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quality and breadth of services provided. The Company’s success depends upon, among other factors, trends of
national and local economies, the financial condition and operating results of current and prospective tenants, the
availability and cost of capital, interest rates, construction and renovation costs, taxes, governmental regulations and
legislation, population trends, zoning laws, and the ability of the Company to lease, sublease or sell its properties,
including the condominium units at the Lexington Avenue project, at profitable levels.

The Terrorist Attacks of September 11, 2001 in New York City May Adversely Affect the Value of the
Company’s Properties and Ability to Generate Cash Flow,

There may be a decrease in demand for space in large metropolitan areas that are considered at risk for future
terrorist attacks, and this decrease may reduce the Company’s revenues from property rentals.

All of the Company’s properties are located in the New York City metropolitan area and Paramus, New Jersey.
In the aftermath of terrorist attacks, tenants in this area may choose to relocate their businesses to less populated, lower-
profile areas of the United States that are not as likely to be targets of future terrorist activity. This would trigger a
decrease in the demand for space in these markets, which could increase vacancies in the Company’s properties and
force it to lease its properties on less favorable terms. As a result, the value of the Company’s properties and the level
of its revenues could decline materially.

The Company May Not Be Able to Obtain Sufficient External Financing to Fund its Operations and Business.

In the aggregate, the Company’s operating properties do not generate sufficient cash flow to pay all of its
expenses. While the Company expects that its cash flow will become positive after the completion of the construction
of the Lexington Avenue property, which is expected in 2005, there can be no assurance that the Lexington Avenue
property will be completed on time or completed for the budgeted amount or that the operational and financial
expectations are accurate.

Accordingly, the Company depends principally upon external financing to fund its operations and business,
including the development of the Lexington Avenue property. While it has received financing and credit support in the
form of guarantees from Vomnado, there can be no assurance that Vormado will provide the Company with any
additional financing or credit support. Additionally, the Company’s access to debt or equity financing depends on
banks’ willingness to lend and on conditions in the capital markets. The Company and other companies in the real
estate industry have experienced limited availability of bank loans and capital market financing from time to time.
Although the Company believes that it will be able to finance any investments it wishes to make in the foreseeable
future, financing in addition to what it already has available may not be available on acceptable terms.

For information about the available sources of funds, see “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

The Company’s Ownership Structure and Related-Party Transactions May Give Rise to Conflicts of Interest.

Steven Roth, Vornado Realty Trust and Interstate Properties may exercise substantial influence over the
Company. They and some of the Company’s other directors and officers have interests or positions in other
entities that may compete with the Company.

At December 31, 2003, Interstate and its partners owned approximately 11.7% of the common shares of
beneficial interest of Vormado, the Company’s manager, and approximately 27.5% of Alexander’s, Inc. common stock.
Steven Roth, David Mandelbaum and Russell B. Wight, Jr. are the three partners of Interstate. Mr. Roth is the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and a director, the Chairman of the Board of Trustees and Chief Executive Officer
of Vornado and the Managing General Partner of Interstate. Mr. Wight and Mr. Mandelbaum are both trustees of
Vornado and members of the Company’s Board of Directors. In addition, Vornado manages and leases the real estate
assets of Interstate.

As of December 31, 2003, Vornado owned 33.1% of the Company’s outstanding common stock, in addition to
that owned by Interstate and its partners. In addition to the relationships described in the immediately preceding
paragraph, Michael D. Fascitelli, the President and a trustee of Vornado, is the Company’s President and a member of
its Board of Directors. Mr. Richard West is a trustee of Vormado and a member of the Company’s Board of Directors.
In addition, Joseph Macnow, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, holds the same positions with
Vornado.

Because of their overlapping interests, Mr. Roth, Interstate Properties and the other individuals noted in the
preceding paragraphs may have substantial influence over both Vornado and Alexander’s, and on the outcome of any
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matters submitted to Vornado shareholders or Alexander’s stockholders for approval. In addition, certain decisions
concerning the Company’s operations or financial structure may present conflicts of interest among Messrs. Roth,
Mandelbaum and Wight and Interstate and other security holders. Mr. Roth and Interstate may, in the future, engage in
a wide variety of activities in the real estate business which may result in conflicts of interest with respect to matters
affecting Vornado or the Company, such as which of these entities or persons, if any, may take advantage of potential
business opportunities, the business focus of these entities, the types of properties and geographic locations in which
these entities make investments, potential competition between business activities conducted, or sought to be
conducted, by Vornado or the Company, competition for properties and tenants, possible corporate transactions such as
acquisitions, and other strategic decisions affecting the future of these entities.

There may be conflicts of interest between Vornado Realty Trust, its affiliates and the Company.

At December 31, 2003, Vornado had loans receivable from the Company of $124,000,000 at an interest rate of
12.48%. These loans mature on the earlier of January 3, 2006 or the date that the Lexington Avenue construction loan
is finally repaid. In addition, $21,000,000 was available under the line of credit with Vornado at December 31, 2003.
Vornado also manages, develops and leases the Company’s properties under agreements under which Vornado receives
annual fees and will receive an estimated development fee and guarantee fee for the Lexington Avenue property of
$26,300,000 and $6,300,000, respectively. These agreements have one-year terms expiring in March of each year,
except that the Lexington Avenue management and development agreements have terms lasting until substantial
completion of the construction of the Lexington Avenue property, and are all automatically renewable. Because the
Company and Vornado share common senior management and because a majority of the trustees of Vornado also
constitute the majority of the Company’s directors, the terms of the foregoing agreements and any future agreements
between the Company and Vornado and its affiliates may not be comparable to those the Company could have
negotiated with an unaffiliated third party.

For a description of Interstate’s ownership of Vornado and Alexander’s, see “— Steven Roth, Vornado Realty
Trust and Interstate Properties may exercise substantial influence over the Company. They and some of the
Company’s other directors and officers have interests or positions in other entities that may compete with the
Company.” above.

The Organizational and Financial Structure of the Company Gives Rise to Operational and Financial Risks.

The Company depends on dividends and distributions from direct and indirect subsidiaries and these
subsidiaries’ creditors and preferred security holders are entitled to payment of amounts payable to them by the
subsidiaries before the subsidiaries may pay any dividends or distributions to the Company.

Alexander’s, Inc. holds substantially all of its properties and assets through subsidiaries. Alexander’s, Inc.
therefore depends on cash distributions and dividends from its subsidiaries for substantially all of its cash flow. The
creditors of each of its direct and indirect subsidiaries are entitled to payment of that subsidiary’s obligations to them,
when due and payable, before that subsidiary may make distributions or dividends to Alexander’s, Inc. Thus,
Alexander’s, Inc.’s ability to pay its indebtedness and to make dividends to its security holders depends on its
subsidiaries’ ability to first satisfy their obligations to their creditors.

The Company has substantial indebtedness, and this indebtedness may increase.

As of December 31, 2003, the Company had approximately $731,485,000 in total debt outstanding, inclusive of
$124,000,000 due to Vornado. Our ratio of total debt to total enterprise value was 54.9% at December 31, 2003.
“Enterprise value” means the market equity value of Alexander’s, Inc. plus debt less cash and cash equivalents at such
date. In addition, the Company has significant debt service obligations. For the year ended December 31, 2003, the
Company’s cash payments for principal and interest were $49,582,000. Except for the year ended December 31, 2001,
the Company had deficiencies in earnings to cover fixed charges. In the future, the Company may incur additional
debt, as it did in February 2004 with the $400,000,000 financing collateralized by the office space at the Lexington
Avenue project, and thus increase the ratio of total debt to total enterprise value, to finance acquisitions or property
developments. The Company may review and modify its debt level from time to time without notice to or any vote of
security holders.

Alexander’s, Inc. has outstanding and exercisable stock appreciation rights. The exercise of these stock
appreciation rights may impact the Company’s liquidity.

As of December 31, 2003, 850,000 stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) were outstanding and exercisable at a
weighted-average exercise price of $71.82. The agreements for these SARs require that they be settled in cash. Had
the holders of these SARs chosen to exercise their rights as of December 31, 2003, the Company would have had to
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pay $44,917,000 in cash. Further appreciation in the Alexander’s, Inc. stock price from the closing stock price of
$124.66 at December 31, 2003 will increase the cash the Company would have to pay upon exercise and may impact
liquidity by requiring the Company to secure additional borrowings to replace such a cash outflow.

The Company’s existing financing documents contain covenants and restrictions that may inhibit the Company’s
operational and financial flexibility and restrict or prohibit the ability to make payments upon securities.

At December 31, 2003, substantially all of the Company’s properties were pledged to secure obligations under
$731,485,000 of existing secured indebtedness. If the Company were to fail to perform its obligations under existing
indebtedness or become insolvent or were liquidated, secured creditors would be entitled to payment in full from the
proceeds of the sale of the pledged assets prior to any proceeds being paid to other creditors or to any holders of the
Company’s securities. In such an event, it is possible that the Company would have insufficient assets remaining to
make payments to a holder of the Company’s securities. In addition, the existing financing documents contain
restrictive covenants which limit the ability to incur indebtedness, make prepayments of indebtedness, pay dividends,
make investments, engage in transactions with affiliates, issue or sell capital stock of subsidiaries, create liens, sell
assets, acquire or transfer property and engage in mergers and acquisitions. These covenants may significantly restrict
the Company’s operational and financial flexibility and may restrict its ability to obtain additional financing or pursue
other business activities that may be beneficial.

The loss of key personnel could harm operations.

The Company is dependent on the efforts of Steven Roth, its Chief Executive Officer, and Michael D. Fascitelli,
its President. While the Company believes that it could find replacements for these individuals, the loss of their
services could harm operations.

The Company might fail to qualify or remain qualified as a real estate investment trust.

Although the Company believes that Alexander’s, Inc. will remain organized and will continue to operate so as to
qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, it might fail to remain qualified in this way. Qualification as a REIT
for federal income tax purposes is governed by highly technical and complex provisions of the Internal Revenue Code
for which there are only limited judicial or administrative interpretations. Qualification as a REIT also depends on
various facts and circumstances that are not entirely within the control of the Company. In addition, legislation, new
regulations, administrative interpretations or court decisions might significantly change the tax laws with respect to the
requirements for qualification as a REIT or the federal income tax consequences of qualification as a REIT.

In order to qualify and maintain its qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, the Company is
required, among other conditions, to distribute as dividends to its stockholders at least 90% of annual REIT taxable
income. As of December 31, 2003, the Company had reported net operating loss carryovers (“NOLs”) of $64,518,000,
which generally would be available to offset the amount of REIT taxable income that it otherwise would be required to
distribute. However, the NOLs reported on the tax returns are not binding on the Internal Revenue Service and are
subject to adjustment as a result of future aundits. In addition, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, the
ability to use the Company’s NOLs could be limited if, generally, there are significant changes in the ownership of the
Company’s outstanding stock. Since its reorganization as a REIT commencing in 1995, the Company has not paid
regular dividends and does not believe that it will be required to, and may not, pay regular dividends until the NOLs
have been fully utilized.

Limits on changes in control may discourage takeover attempts beneficial to stockholders.

Provisions in the Company’s certificate of incorporation and by laws, as well as provisions of the Internal
Revenue Code and Delaware corporate law, may:

e  delay or prevent a change of control over the Company or a tender offer, even if such action
might be beneficial to stockholders, and

e  limut the stockholders’ opportunity to receive a potential premium for their shares of common
stock over then prevailing market prices.

Stock Ownership Limit — Primarily to facilitate maintenance of its qualification as a REIT, the Company’s
certificate of incorporation generally prohibits ownership, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by any single stockholder
of more than 9.9% of the outstanding shares of preferred stock of any series or 4.9% of outstanding common stock.
The Board of Directors may waive or modify these ownership limits with respect to one or more persons if it is
satisfied that ownership in excess of these limits will not jeopardize the Company’s status as a REIT for federal income
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tax purposes. In addition, the Board of Directors has, subject to certain conditions and limitations, exempted Vornado
and certain of its affiliates from these ownership limitations. Shares owned in violation of these ownership limits will
be subject to the loss of rights and other restrictions. These ownership limits may have the effect of inhibiting or
impeding a change in control.

The Number of Shares of Alexander’s, Inc. Common Stock and the Market for Those Shares Give Rise to
Various Risks.

Alexander’s, Inc. has outstanding and exercisable options to purchase its common stock. The exercise of these
options could decrease the market price of the shares of common stock currently outstanding.

As of December 31, 2003, 105,000 options were outstanding and exercisable at a weighted-average exercise price
of $70.38. Additionally, 1,745,000 shares are available for future grant under the terms of the Company’s Omnibus

Stock Plan. The Company cannot predict the impact that future exercises of outstanding options or grants of additional
options would have on the market price of its common stock.

Changes in market conditions could decrease the market price of the Company’s securities.

The value of the Company’s securities depends on various market conditions, which may change from time to
time. Among the market conditions that may affect the value of the Company’s shares are the following:

e the extent of institutional investor interest in Alexander’s, Inc.,

s  the reputation of REITs generally and the attractiveness of their equity securities in comparison
to other equity securities, including securities issued by other real estate companies, and fixed
income securities,

¢ the Company’s NOLs which are generally available to offset the amount of the REIT taxable
income that the Company otherwise would be required to distribute as dividends,

e  the Company’s financial condition and performance,

e  the Company’s ability to complete the Lexmgton Avenue development project on a timely basis
and for the budgeted amount,

e  prevailing interest rates, and
e  general financial market conditions.

In addition, the stock market in recent years has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have
often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of companies.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
The following table shows the location, ownership, approximate size and leasing status of each of the Company’s properties as of
December 31, 2003.
Approximate
Building Average
Leaseable Annualized Lease
Square Feet/ Base Rent Square Expiration/
Approximate Number of Per Square  Percent Significant Footage Option
Property Ownership Area Floors Foot Leased Tenants Leased Expiration
Operating Properties

Kings Plaza Regional Owned 24.3 acres 759,00019/ $ 3448 99% Sears 289,000  2023/2033
Shopping Center 2and 4 124 Mall tenants 461,000 Various
Flatbush Avenue and
Avenue U
Brooklyn, New York

Rego Park I Owned 4.8 acres 351,0000%73 31.92 100% Sears 195,000 20212031
Queens Boulevard and Circuit City 50,000 2021
63" Road Bed Bath & 46,000  2013/2021
Queens, New York Beyond

Marshalls 39,000  2008/2021

Routes 4 and 17 Owned 30.3 acres N/A, N/A, 100% IKEA Property, N/A, 2041

Paramus, New Jersey Ground Ground Inc. Ground

Lease Lease Lease
Roosevelt Avenue and Leased @ 44,975 sq. ft. 177,000 /4 0%
Main Street
Flushing, New York
-.1.287.000

Property Under
Development . .

Square block at East Owned 84,420 sq. ft. 1,304,000/55 Bloomberg L.P. 695,000  2030/2040
59 Street and The Home Depot 83,000  2025/2035
Lexington Avenue Hennes & 27,000 2020
New York, New York Mauritz

Property to Be Developed

Rego Park I1 Owned 6.6 acres

Adjacent to Rego Park 1

Queens, New York

O Excludes parking garages.

® Excludes the 339,000 square foot Macy’s store, owned and operated by Federated Department Stores, Inc. (“Federated”).

® L eased to the Company through January 2027. The rent under the lease is as follows: $331,000 per year from February 1997 through
January 2007, $220,000 per year from February 2007 through January 2017, and $147,000 per year from February 2017 through January

2027.
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Operating Properties

Kings Plaza Regional Shopping Center

The Kings Plaza Regional Shopping Center (the “Center”) contains 1,098,000 square feet and is comprised of a
two-level mall (the “Mall”) containing 470,000 square feet and two four-level anchor stores. One of the anchor stores
is owned by the Company and leased to Sears, while the other anchor store is owned and operated as a Macy’s store by
Federated. The Center occupies a 24.3 acre site at the intersection of Flatbush Avenue and Avenue U in Brooklyn,
New York. Among the Center’s features are a marina, a five-level parking garage and an energy plant that generates
all of the Center’s electrical power. The Company completed renovations of the interior of the Mall in 2001 and the
exterior of the Mall in 2002.

The Company plans to construct a two-story freestanding building adjacent to the Mall of approximately 200,000
square feet. The first story of approximately 120,000 square feet will be operated as a Lowe’s Home Improvement
Warehouse (“Lowe’s”). The Lowe’s lease is expected to commence in 2006. The cost of the project will be
approximately $13 to 15 million, net of the Lowe’s reimbursement and before reimbursement, if any, from the second
story tenant(s). There can be no assurance that this project will be completed, completed on time or completed for the
budgeted amount.

The following table shows lease expirations for the Mall tenants in the Center for the next ten years, assuming
none of the tenants exercise renewal options.

Percent of Percent of
Approximate Total Leased 2003 Gross
Leased Areain  Annualized Annualized Square Annual Base
Square Feet Fixed Rent Fixed Rent Footage Rentals
Number of Under Under Under Expiring Represented  Represented
Leases Expiring Expiring Leases per by Expiring by Expiring
Year Expiring Leases Leases Square Foot Leases Leases
2004 5 20,678 3 894,000 $ 43.25 4.5% 4.1%
2005 9 13,262 572,000 43.16 2.9% 2.6%
2006 16 87,742 2,701,000 30.79 19.0% 12.2%
2007 16 52,632 2,570,000 48.83 11.4% 11.6%
2008 9 15,791 1,052,000 66.62 34% 4.8%
2009 14 68,766 3,744,000 54.45 14.9% 16.9%
2010 10 22,907 1,548,000 67.57 5.0% 7.0%
2011 12 36,965 1,916,000 51.84 8.0% 8.7%
2012 16 79,973 2,787,000 34.85 17.4% 12.6%
2013 14 40,379 2,459,000 60.89 8.8% 11.1%
The following table shows the occupancy rate and the average annual rent per square foot for the Mall stores as
of:
Average
Annual Base Rent
Occupancy Rate Per Square Foot
December 31, 2003 98% $ 4795
December 31, 2002 97% 45.59
December 31, 2001 96% 45.97
December 31, 2000 91% 44.66
December 31, 1999 86% 43.12

The Center is encumbered by a first mortgage loan with a balance of $216,586,000 at December 31, 2003. The
loan matures in June 2011 and bears interest at 7.46%.
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Rego Park ]

The Rego Park I property encompasses the entire block fronting on Queens Boulevard and bounded by 63 Road,
62" Drive, 97® Street and Junction Boulevard. The existing 351,000 square foot building was redeveloped in 1996 and
is fully leased to Sears, Circuit City, Bed Bath & Beyond, Marshalls and Old Navy. In conjunction with the
redevelopment, a multi-level parking structure was constructed to provide paid parking spaces for approximately 1,200
vehicles.

The properfy is encumbered by a first mortgage loan with a balance of $82,000,000 at December 31, 2003. The
loan matures in June 2009 and bears interest at 7.25%

Paramus

The Company owns 30.3 acres of land located at the intersection of Routes 4 and 17 in Paramus, New Jersey.
The Company’s property is located directly across from the Garden State Plaza regional shopping mall and is within
two miles of three other regional shopping malls and ten miles of New York City. This land is leased to IKEA
Property, Inc.

On October 5, 2001, the Company entered into a ground lease for the Paramus, New Jersey property with IKEA
Property, Inc. The lease has a 40-year term with a purchase option at the end of the twentieth year for $75,000,000.
Further, the Company has a $68,000,000 interest only, non-recourse mortgage loan on the property from a third party
lender. The fixed interest rate on the debt is 5.92% with interest payable monthly until maturity in October 2011. The
triple-net rent each year is the sum of $700,000 plus the amount of debt service on the mortgage loan. If the purchase
option is not exercised at the end of the twentieth year, the triple-net rent for the last 20 years must include debt service
sufficient to fully amortize $68,000,000 over the remaining 20-year lease term.

Flushing

The Flushing property is located on Roosevelt Avenue and Main Street in the downtown, commercial section
of Flushing, Queens, New York. Roosevelt Avenue and Main Street are active shopping districts and there are
many national retailers located in the area. A subway entrance is located directly in front of the property with bus
service across the street. The property comprises a vacant four-floor building containing 177,000 square feet and a
parking garage.

On May 30, 2002, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its subsidiary which owns the building and
has the ground lease for its property in Flushing for $18,750,000. The Company received a non-refundable deposit
of $1,875,000 from the purchaser. By Notice of Default dated August 16, 2002, the landlord of the premises
notified the Company of certain alleged defaults under the lease including, but not limited to, the fact that the
purchaser performed unauthorized construction at the premises. The Company commenced an action against the
landlord for injunctive relief and a declaration of the rights and obligations of the parties under the lease. The
Company has obtained an injunction, which temporarily restrains the landlord from terminating the lease. On
September 6, 2002, the scheduled closing date, the Company notified the purchaser that it failed to close and is in
default of its obligations under the purchase contract. Since the purchaser has not met its obligations under the
purchase contract, the Company recognized $1,289,000 as income, representing the non-refundable deposit of
$1,875,000, net of $586,000 for costs associated with this transaction. This income is included in “Interest and other
income, net” in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Property Under Development

Lexington Avenue

The Company owns a property which comprises the entire square block bounded by Lexington Avenue, East 59"
Street, Third Avenue and East 58" Street and is situated in the heart of one of Manhattan’s busiest business and
shopping districts with convenient access to several subway and bus lines. The property is located directly across the
street from Bloomingdale’s flagship store and only a few blocks away from Fifth Avenue and 57% Street.

The development at Lexington Avenue consists of an approximately 1.3 million square foot multi-use building.
The building will contain approximately 885,000 net rentable square feet of office space, approximately 171,000 net
rentable square feet of retail space and approximately 248,000 net saleable square feet of residential space consisting
of condominium units (through a taxable REIT subsidiary). Of the construction budget of $630,000,000 (which
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excludes $29,000,000 for development and guarantee fees to Vornado), $402,000,000 has been expended through
December 31, 2003 and an additional $62,200,000 has been committed to at December 31, 2003. Construction is
expected to be completed in 2005.

On May 1, 2001, the Company entered into a triple-net lease with Bloomberg L.P. for approximately 695,000
square feet of office space at the Lexington Avenue property (the “Bloomberg Space™). The initial term of the lease
is 25 years with a ten-year renewal option. Base annual net rent is $34,529,000 in each of the first four years and
$38,533,000 in the fifth year with a similar percentage increase each four years thereafter. On November 15, 2003, the
Company delivered approximately 87% of the space. Accordingly, the Company transferred approximately
$195,000,000 from “Construction in progress” to “Land” and “Buildings, leaseholds and leasehold improvements”
in the year ended December 31, 2003. As of February 9, 2004, all of the Bloomberg Space has been delivered.
Payment of base rent commences nine months from delivery of each parcel of space; rent recognition commenced
from delivery of space.

At December 31, 2003, 115,000 square feet of retail space has been leased, of which The Home Depot and
Hennes & Mauritz have leased 83,000 and 27,000 square feet, respectively. The Company expects to deliver the
leased space in 2004. Payment of base rent commences six to nine months from delivery of each space; rent
recognition commences on delivery of space.

The residential space is comprised of 105 condominium units. The original offering plan filed for these units, as
amended for price increases through December 31, 2003, would produce (inclusive of the value of existing contracts)
an aggregate sale price of $457,000,000. As of December 31, 2003, the Company has received deposits of
$10,425,000 on sales of the condominium units.

Financing of the Project

On February 13, 2004, the Company completed a $400,000,000 mortgage financing on the office space. The loan
was placed by German American Capital Corporation, an affiliate of Deutsche Bank. The loan bears interest at 5.33%,
matures in February 2014 and beginning in the third year, provides for principal payments based on a 25-year
amortization schedule such that over the remaining eight years of the loan, ten years of amortization will be paid.
$253,529,000 of the loan proceeds was used to repay the entire amount outstanding under the previously existing
construction loan (the “Construction Loan”) with Hypo Real Estate Capital Corporation.

The Construction Loan was modified so that the remaining availability is $237,000,000, which is approximately
the amount estimated to complete the Lexington Avenue development project (not including $29,000,000 for
development and guarantee fees to Vornado). The interest rate of the Construction Loan of LIBOR plus 2.5% (3.64%
at December 31, 2003) and the maturity date of January 2006, with two one-year extensions, were not changed. The
collateral for the Construction Loan is the same except that the office space has been removed from the lien. Further,
the Construction Loan permits the release of the retail space for a payment of $15 million and requires all proceeds
from the sale of the residential condominium units to be applied to the Construction Loan balance until it is finally
repaid. Vomnado has agreed to guarantee to the conmstruction lender, the lien free, timely completion of the
construction of the Lexington Avenue project and funding of project costs in excess of a stated loan budget, if not
funded by the Company (the “Completion Guarantee”). If Vornado should advance any funds under the Completion
Guarantee in excess of $21,000,000, which is the amount currently available under the line of credit with Vornado,
interest on those advances would be at 15% per annum,

There can be no assurance that the Lexington Avenue project will be completed on time or completed for the
budgeted amount. Any failure to complete the Lexington Avenue project on time or within budget may adversely
affect future cash flows and funds from operations, and the Company’s financial condition.

Property to Be Developed

Rego Park I

. The Company owns two land parcels containing 6.6 acres adjacent to its Rego Park I property. They comprise
the entire square block bounded by the Long Island Expressway, 97 Street, 62™ Drive and Junction Boulevard and
a smaller parcel of approximately one-half square block at the intersection of 97% Street and the Long Island
Expressway. Both parcels are currently zoned for residential use and are being used for public paid parking. The
Company intends to continue to use these properties for paid parking while it evaluates its development options.
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The Company is considering the development of two projects at its Rego Park II property. One project is a
mixed-use, three-level development containing approximately 500,000 square feet of retail space, a multi-level
parking garage and up to 450,000 square feet of residential space. This project is subject to governmental approvals.
The other project consists of two retail buildings containing approximately 80,000 square feet. It is anticipated that
neither of these projects will commence prior to 2005. There can be no assurance that these development projects will
be completed, completed on time or completed for the budgeted amount.

Other Encumbrances

At December 31, 2003, the Company was indebted to Vornado in the amount of $124,000,000, comprised of
(i) a $95,000,000 note and (ii) $29,000,000 under a $50,000,000 line of credit. The loans are collateralized by,
among other things, a pledge given by the Company of its interests in the entities holding (a) the Lexington Avenue
property, (b) the Flushing property and (c) the Rego Park II property.

Insurance

The Company carries comprehensive liability and all-risk property insurance (fire, flood, extended coverage and
rental loss insurance) with respect to its assets but is at risk for financial loss in excess of the policies’ limits. Such a
loss could be material.

The Company’s all-risk insurance policies in effect before September 11, 2001 did not expressly exclude
coverage for hostile acts, except acts of war. Since September 11, 2001, but prior to the enactment of the Terrorism
Risk Insurance Act of 2002, insurance companies had, for the most part, excluded terrorist acts from coverage in all-
risk policies. The Company was generally unable to obtain all-risk insurance that includes coverage for terrorist acts
for policies renewed during that period.

The Company’s debt instruments, consisting of mortgage loans secured by its properties (which are generally
non-recourse to the Company), contain customary covenants requiring the Company to maintain insurance. There
can be no assurance that the lenders under these instruments will not take the position that an exclusion from all-risk
insurance coverage for losses due to terrorist acts is a breach of these debt instruments, allowing the lenders to
declare an event of default and accelerate repayment of debt. In addition, if lenders insist on coverage for these
risks, it may adversely affect the Company’s ability to finance and/or refinance its properties and businesses,
including the construction of the Lexington Avenue development property.

On November 26, 2002, the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 was signed into law. Under this new
legislation, through 2004 (with a possible extension through 2005), regulated insurers must offer coverage in their
commercial property and casualty policies (including existing policies) for losses resulting from defined “acts of
terrorism.” As a result of the legislation, in June 2003, the Company obtained $500,000,000 of coverage per
occurrence for certified terrorist acts, as defined in the legislation, and $150,000,000 per occurrence for non-certified
acts. In addition, on February 13, 2004, the Company increased the builders’ risk insurance coverage for its
Lexington Avenue project, which includes full coverage for certified terrorist acts, per occurrence, and
$200,000,000 for non-certified acts, per occurrence. Therefore, the Company is at risk for financial loss in excess of
these limits for terrorist acts, as defined by the policies and the legislation. Such loss could be material. Prior to
June 2003, the Company had $200,000,000 of separate aggregate coverage for terrorist acts.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is a party to, nor is their property the subject of, any material
pending legal proceeding other than routine litigation incidental to their businesses. The Company believes that these
legal actions will not be material to the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

For a discussion of the litigation concerning the sale of the Company’s subsidiary which owns the building and
has the ground lease for the Company’s property in Flushing, New York, see “Item 2. Properties — Operating
Properties — Flushing.”

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A YOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31,
2003.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following is a list of the names, ages, principal occupations and positions with the Company of the executive
officers of the Company and the positions held by such officers during the past five years.

Name

Age

Principal Occupations and Offices (current and during the past five years
with the Company unless otherwise stated) "

Stephen Mann

Steven Roth

Michael D. Fascitelli

Joseph Macnow

68

62

47

58

Chairman of the Board of Directors since March 1995; Interim Chairman of
the Board of Directors from August 1994 to March 1995; Chairman of Coast
to Coast Financial Corp. since 2001; Chairman’ of the Clifford Companies
since 1990; and, prior thereto, counsel to Mudge Rose Guthrie Alexander &

" Ferdon, attorneys.

Chief Executive Officer since March 1995; Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer of Vomado Realty Trust since May 1989; Chairman of
Vomado Realty Trust’s Executive Committee of the Board since April 1980;
and a trustee of Vornado Realty Trust since 1979; Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer of Vornado Operating Company since 1998; and
Managing General Partner of Interstate Properties.

President since August 2000; Director of the Company and President and
trustee of Vornado Realty Trust since December 1996; President and director
of Vornado Operating Company since 1998; Partner at Goldman Sachs & Co.,
in charge of its real estate practice, from December 1992 to December 1996;
and, prior thereto, Vice President at Goldman Sachs & Co.

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since June 2002;

" Executive Vice President — Finance and Administration from March 2001 to

June 2002; Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from August 1995 to
March 2001; Executive Vice President — Finance and Administration of
Vomado Realty Trust since January 1998 and Chief Financial Officer of
Vornado Realty Trust since March 2001; Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of Vornado Realty Trust from 1985 to January 1998; Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Vormado Operating Company since
June 2002; Executive Vice President — Finance and Administration of
Vornado Operating Company from 1998 to June 2002.
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PART

1

ITEMS. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER

MATTERS

The Company’s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “ALX.” The
transfer agent and registrar for the common stock is Wachovia Bank, N.A. Set forth below are the high and low sales
prices for the common stock for each full quarterly period within the two most recent years.

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002
Quarter High Low High Low
FIrst oo $ 6698 $ 6140 $ 64.80 § 5575
Second......c..cociverccncrinncn. 86.90 63.75 77.00 60.00
Third.......ccooeeiiierreennnn, 106.50 83.20 77.76 59.49
Fourth....oovcvviriccnenine 126.00 102.50 65.54 61.45

As of February 29, 2004, there were approximately 1,450 holders of record of the Company’s common stock.
The Company pays dividends only if, as and when declared by its Board of Directors. No dividends were paid in 2003
and 2002. In order to qualify as a real estate investment trust, the Company generally is required to distribute 90% of
its taxable income as a dividend. At December 31, 2003, the Company had net operating loss carryovers (“NOLs”) of
approximately $64,518,000. Under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, the Company’s NOLs generally
would be available to offset the amount of the Company’s taxable income (excluding income from taxable REIT
subsidiaries) that otherwise would be required to be distributed as a dividend to stockholders.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected financial and operating data. This data should be read in conjunction
with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This data may not be
comparable to, or indicative of, future operating results.

¢ Year Ended December 31,
(amounts in thousands, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
TOtal TEVEMUES ..o et $ 87,162 $ 76,800 $ 67,792 $ 62,696 $ 63,133
(Loss) income from continuing operations........ $(18,948) $ 12,400 $ 7414 $ 4425 $ 4,743
Income from discontinued operations ............... 1,206 11,184 946 772 781
Gain on sale of Fordham Road property ........... - -- 19,026 - --
Net (1088) INCOME ......oorvvvreerrreerrerreenerseereens 17,742)  § 23.584®  $27386® § 5197 $ 55249
Net (loss) income per common share (basic
and diluted):

(Loss) income from continuing operations... $ (3.79) $ 248 § 148 $ 089 $ 095

Income from discontinued operations........... 0.24 224 0.19 0.15 0.15

Gain on sale of Fordham Road property....... -- - 3.81 -- -

Net (1088) INCOME........evveerrererecerirerere e S (355 $§ 472 3 _548 § 1.04 $§ 110
Balance sheet data:

TOtal @SSELS..ovcvvviceecrree e $920,996 $664,912 $583,339 $403,305 $366,496

Real estate, Net.......oovveerenirenieerecnenrererenens 773,083 542,975 377,961 343,612 269,324

DDttt 731,485 543,807 515,831 367,788 329,161

Stockholders’ equity .....coveevecnrvrrererereneeerenn 50,923 68,665 45,081 17,695 12,498

M Toss from continuing operations includes (i) an accrual of $44,917 for compensation expense for stock
appreciation rights due to an increase in the Company’s stock price and (ii) $1,289 resulting from the recognition as
income of the non-refundable deposit from the planned sale of the Flushing property of $1,875, net of $586 for
costs associated with this transaction. Income from discontinued operations represents the reversal of previously
accrued contingent liabilities.

@ Income from discontinued operations includes the gain on the sale of the Third Avenue property of $10,366.

® Income from continuing operations includes (i) a gain from the early extinguishment of debt of $3,534, (ii) a
$3,058 write off of architectural and engineering costs associated with the development plans for the Paramus
property prior to the ground lease with IKEA Property, Inc. and (iii) a2 $2,030 write off of professional fees resulting
from the termination of the spin-off of Alexander’s Tower LLC.

 Income from continuing operations includes a $4,877 write off of an asset arising from the straight-lining of rents,
which was primarily due to Caldor’s rejection of its Flushing lease in 1999.




ITEM7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

The Company had a net loss of $17,742,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003, compared to net income of
$23,584,000 in the prior year. The net loss for 2003 includes (i) an accrual of $44,917,000 for compensation expense
for stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), (ii) $1,289,000 resulting from the recognition as income of the non-refundable
deposit from the planned sale of the Flushing property of $1,875,000, net of $586,000 for costs associated with this
transaction, and (iii) income from discontinued operations of $1,206,000 representing the reversal of previously
accrued contingent liabilities. Net income for 2002 includes income from discontinued operations of $11,184,000,
which includes a gain on the sale of the Third Avenue property of $10,366,000.

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company changed its method of accounting for long-lived assets sold or held for
sale, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment and Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. This statement requires that the results of operations and gains and
losses attributable to properties held for sale or sold during 2002 and thereafter, such as the Third Avenue property,
be classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented, and that any assets and liabilities of these
properties be presented separately in the consolidated balance sheets. Properties sold as a result of sales activities
that were initiated prior to January 1, 2002, such as the Fordham Road property, continue to be accounted for under
the applicable prior accounting guidance.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. Set forth below is a summary of the accounting policies that management believes are critical to the
preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements. This summary should be read in conjunction with
the more complete discussion of the Company’s accounting policies included in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Real Estate — Real estate is carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is
provided on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives, which range from seven to 50 years.
Betterments, significant renewals and certain costs directly related to the acquisition, improvement and leasing of real
estate are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred. As real estate is undergoing
development activities, all property operating expenses, including interest expense, are capitalized to the cost of the real
property to the extent that management believes such costs are recoverable through the value of the property. The
recognition of depreciation expense requires estimates by management of the useful life of each property and
improvement, as well as an allocation of the costs associated with a property, including capitalized costs, to its various
components. If the Company does not allocate these costs appropriately or incorrectly estimates the useful lives of its
real estate, depreciation expense could be misstated.

As construction of the Lexington Avenue development project progresses and as components of the building are
placed into service (e.g., the space delivered to Bloomberg L.P. during 2003), the Company will cease capitalizing
property operating expenses, including interest expense, and begin to expense these items, as well as depreciation, for
those components.

The Company’s properties are reviewed for impairment if events or circumstances change, indicating that the
carrying amount of the property may not be recoverable. In such an event, a comparison is made of the current and
projected operating cash flows of each such property into the foreseeable future on an undiscounted basis to the
carrying amount of the property. The carrying amount of an asset would be adjusted, if necessary, to reflect an
impairment in the value of the asset. If the Company incorrectly estimates undiscounted cash flows, impairment
charges may be different. The impact of such estimates in connection with future impairment analyses could be
material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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Deferred Charges — Direct financing costs are deferred and amortized over the terms of the related agreements as
a component of interest and debt expense. Direct costs related to leasing activities are capitalized and amortized on a
straight-line basis over the lives of the related leases. All other deferred charges are amortized on a straight-line basis,
which approximates the effective interest rate method, in accordance with the terms of the agreements to which they
relate. In commection with the repayment of $253,529,000 of the construction loan for the Lexington Avenue
development project, the Company will write off $3,050,000 of deferred financing costs in the first quarter of 2004,

Revenue Recognition — The Company has the foliowing revenue sources and revenue recognition policies:

Base rent (revenue arising from tenant leases) — These rents are recognized over the non-cancelable term of the
related leases on a straight-line basis, which includes the effects of rent steps and free rent abatements under the leases.

Percentage Rents (revenue arising from retail tenant leases that is contingent upon the sales of tenants exceeding
defined thresholds) — These rents are recognized in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue
Recognition, which states that this contingent revenue is only to be recognized after the contingency has been removed
(i.e., the sales threshold has been achieved).

Expense Reimbursements (revenue arising from tenant leases which provide for the recovery of all or a portion of
the operating expenses and real estate taxes of the respective properties) — This revenue is accrued in the same periods
as the expenses are incurred.

Condominium Sales (income arising from the sales of condominium units at the Lexington Avenue property) —
Income on deposits received for sales of condominium units has been deferred in accordance with the deposit method
of SFAS No. 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate.

The Company assesses, among other things, the collectibility of revenue before recognition. If the Company
incorrectly assesses collectibility of revenue, net earnings and assets could be misstated.

Income Taxes — The Company operates in a manner intended to enable it to continue to qualify as a real estate
investment trust (“REIT”) under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”). Under the Code, the Company’s net operating loss carryovers (“NOLs”) generally would be available to
offset the amount of the Company’s REIT taxable income that would otherwise be required to be distributed as
dividends to its stockholders.

The Company has elected to treat its wholly owned subsidiary, 731 Residential LLC (“Residential”), as a taxable
REIT subsidiary (“TRS”). A TRS is subject to income tax at regular corporate tax rates. The Company’s NOLs will
not be available to offset taxable income of Residential. Residential owns the assets comprising the residential
condominium units at the Company’s Lexington Avenue project. Residential paid no income taxes in the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001. ’

Stock Options — The Company accounts for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method. Under
the intrinsic value method, compensation cost is measured as the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of the
Company’s common stock at the date of grant over the exercise price of the option granted. Compensation cost for
stock options, if any, is recognized ratably over the vesting period. The Company’s policy is to grant options with
an exercise price equal to the quoted market price of the Company’s common stock on the grant date. Accordingly,
no compensation expense has been recognized for the Company’s stock options.

Stock Appreciation Rights — SARs are granted at 100% of the market price of the Company’s common stock on
the date of grant. SARs vest ratably, becoming fully vested 36 months after grant, and generate compensation expense
measured by the excess of the stock price over the exercise price at the balance sheet date. On subsequent balance
sheet dates, if the stock price falls, the previously recognized expense is reversed, but not below zero.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards — In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS
No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical
Corrections. SFAS No. 145 requires, among other things, that (i) the modification of a lease that results in a change
of the classification of the lease from capital to operating under the provisions of SFAS No. 13, Accounting for
Leases, be accounted for as a sale-leaseback transaction and (ii) the reporting of gains or losses from the early
extinguishment of debt as extraordinary items only if they meet the criteria of Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 30, Reporting the Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and
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Exrraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions. The amendment of SFAS No. 13 had
no impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. As required by this staternent, the Company
reclassified the $3,534,000 extraordinary gain in the year ended December 31, 2001 to “Gain on early
extinguishment of debt.”

Results of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002

Property rentals were $56,785,000 in 2003, compared to $50,630,000 in 2002, an increase of $6,155,000. This
increase resulted primarily from recognizing rent of $5,081,000 from the lease with Bloomberg L.P. which took
possession of 87% of the 695,000 square feet under the lease on November 15, 2003.

Tenant expense reimbursements were $30,377,000 in 2003, compared to $26,170,000 in 2002, an increase of
$4,207,000. The increase was largely due to higher reimbursements as real estate taxes, insurance and repairs and
maintenance also increased. '

Operating expenses were $37,984,000 in 2003, compared to $33,042,000 in 2002, an increase of $4,942,000.
Of this increase, (i) $1,541,000 resulted primarily from higher fuel costs for the utility plant at the Company’s Kings
Plaza Regional Shopping Center and (ii) $373,000 resulted from bad debt expense this year as compared to a bad
debt recovery in the prior year. The balance of the increase was due to higher real estate taxes, insurance and repairs
and maintenance, which were billed to tenants.

General and administrative expenses were $48,921,000 in 2003, compared to $3,980,000 in 2002, an increase of
$44,941,000. This increase resulted from an accrual of 344,917,000 of compensation expense for SARs based on the
Company’s closing stock price of $124.66 at December 31, 2003. There was no SARs compensation expense in 2002.

Depreciation and amortization expense was $7,497,000 in 2003, compared to $6,668,000 in 2002, an increase
of $829,000. The increase was largely due to depreciation commencing on November 15, 2003 for space delivered
to Bloomberg L.P.

Interest and other income, net was $1,983,000 in 2003, compared to $2,178,000 in 2002, a decrease of
$195,000. This decrease is largely attributable to lower average cash balances in 2003 due to greater expenditures
for the Lexington Avenue project and lower yields on cash investments primarily offset by $1,289,000 resulting
from the recognition as income of the non-refundable deposit from the planned sale of the Flushing property of
$1,875,000, net of $586,000 for costs associated with this transaction. Also, 2002 results include a non-recurring
gain of $169,000 resulting from the sale of air rights.

Interest and debt expense was $13,691,000 in 2003, compared to $22,888,000 in 2002, a decrease of
$9,197,000. This decrease primarily resulted from (i) higher capitalized interest in 2003 for the Lexington Avenue
property (interest of $37,516,000 was capitalized in 2003, as compared to $23,788,000 in 2002) and (ii) a decrease
in average interest rates from 8.23% to 7.47%, partially offset by (iii) an increase in average debt of $94,991,000.

Years Ended December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001

Property rentals were $50,630,000 in 2002, compared to $44,560,000 in 2001, an increase of $6,070,000. The
increase resulted primarily from (i) the commencement, on October 5, 2001, of the ground lease with IKEA
Property, Inc. for the Paramus property and (ii) an increase in occupancy at the Kings Plaza Regional Shopping
Center.

Tenant expense reimbursements were $26,170,000 in 2002, compared to $23,232,000 in 2001, an increase of
$2,938,000. The increase was largely due to higher reimbursements as real estate taxes, insurance and repairs and
maintenance also increased.

Operating expenses were $33,042,000 in 2002, compared to $29,265,000 in 2001, an increase of $3,777,000.
This increase is primarily attributable to an increase in real estate taxes, insurance and repairs and maintenance.
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Interest and other income, net was $2,178,000 in 2002, compared to $3,237,000 in 2001, a decrease of
$1,059,000. This decrease is largely attributable to lower average cash balances in 2002 due to expenditures for the
Lexington Avenue project and lower yields on cash investments. Also, 2002 results include a non-recurring gain of
$169,000 resulting from the sale of air rights.

Interest and debt expense was $22,888,000 in 2002, compared to $22,469,000 in 2001, an increase of $419,000.
This increase primarily resulted from (i) higher average debt in 2002, partially offset by (ii) a reduction in average
interest rates from 9.20% to 8.23% and (iii) higher capitalized interest in 2002 for the Lexington Avenue property
(interest of $23,788,000 was capitalized in 2002, as compared to $19,259,000 in 2001).

Liquidity and Capital Resources

In the aggregate, Alexander’s operating properties do not generate sufficient cash flow to pay all of its
expenses. After the completion of the Lexington Avenue property, which is expected in 2005, the Company expects
that cash flow will become positive.

Development Projects
Lexington Avenue

The development at Lexington Avenue consists of an approximately 1.3 million square foot multi-use building.
The building will contain approximately 885,000 net rentable square feet of office space, approximately 171,000 net
rentable square feet of retail space and approximately 248,000 net saleable square feet of residential space consisting
of condominium units (through a TRS). Of the construction budget of $630,000,000 (which excludes $29,000,000
for development and guarantee fees to Vornado), $402,000,000 has been expended through December 31, 2003 and
an additional $62,200,000 has been committed to at December 31, 2003. Construction is expected to be completed in
2005.

On May 1, 2001, the Company entered into a triple-net lease with Bloomberg L.P. for approximately 695,000
square feet of office space at the Lexington Avenue property (the “Bloomberg Space”). The initial term of the lease
is 25 years with a ten-year renewal option. Base annual net rent is $34,529,000 in each of the first four years and
$38,533,000 in the fifth year with a simular percentage increase each four years thereafter. On November 15, 2003, the
Company delivered approximately 87% of the space. Accordingly, the Company transferred approximately
$195,000,000 from “Construction in progress” to “Land” and “Buildings, leaseholds and leasehold improvements”
in the year ended December 31, 2003. As of February 9, 2004, all of the Bloomberg Space has been delivered.
Payment of base rent commences nine months from delivery of each parcel of space; rent recognition commenced
from delivery of space.

At December 31, 2003, 115,000 square feet of retail space has been leased, of which The Home Depot and
Hennes & Mauritz have leased 83,000 and 27,000 square feet, respectively. The Company expects to deliver the
leased space in 2004. Payment of base rent commences six to nine months from delivery of each space; rent
recognition commences on delivery of space.

The residential space is comprised of 105 condominium units. The original offering plan filed for these units, as
amended for price increases through December 31, 2003, would produce (inclusive of the value of existing contracts)
an aggregate sale price of $457,000,000. As of December 31, 2003, the Company has received deposits of
$10,425,000 on sales of the condominium units.

Financing of the Project

On February 13, 2004, the Company completed a $400,000,000 mortgage financing on the office space. The loan
was placed by German American Capital Corporation, an affiliate of Deutsche Bank. The loan bears interest at 5.33%,
matures in February 2014 and beginning in the third year, provides for principal payments based on a 25-year
amortization schedule such that over the remaining eight years of the loan, ten years of amortization will be paid.
$253,529,000 of the loan proceeds was used to repay the entire amount outstanding under the previously existing
construction loan (the “Construction Loan”) with Hypo Real Estate Capital Corporation.

The Construction Loan was modified so that the remaining availability is $237,000,000, which is approximately
the amount estimated to complete the Lexington Avenue development project (not including $29,000,000 for
development and guarantee fees to Vornado). The interest rate of the Construction Loan of LIBOR plus 2.5% (3.64%
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at December 31, 2003) and the maturity date of January 2006, with two one-year extensions, were not changed. The
collateral for the Construction Loan is the same except that the office space has been removed from the lien. Further,
the Construction Loan permits the release of the retail space for a payment of $15 million and requires all proceeds
from the sale of the residential condominium units to be applied to the Construction Loan balance until it is finally
repaid. Vornado has agreed to guarantee to the construction lender, the lien free, timely completion of the
construction of the Lexington Avenue project and funding of project costs in excess of a stated loan budget, if not
funded by the Company (the “Completion Guarantee”). If Vornado should advance any funds under the Completion
Guarantee in excess of $21,000,000, which is the amount currently available under the line of credit with Vornado,
interest on those advances would be at 15% per annum.

There can be no assurance that the Lexington Avenue project will be completed on time or completed for the
budgeted amount. Any failure to complete the Lexington Avenue project on time or within budget may adversely
affect future cash flows and funds from operations, and the Company’s financial condition.

Kings Plaza

The Company plans to construct a two-story freestanding building adjacent to the Mall of approximately 200,000
square feet. The first story of approximately 120,000 square feet will be operated as a Lowe’s Home Improvement
Warehouse (“Lowe’s”). The Lowe’s lease is expected to commence in 2006. The cost of the project will be
approximately $13 to 15 million, net of the Lowe’s reimbursement and before reimbursement, if any, from the second
story tenant(s). There can be no assurance that this project will be completed, completed on time or completed for the
budgeted amount.

Rego Park 11

The Company is considering the development of two projects at its Rego Park II property. One project is a
mixed-use, three-level development containing approximately 500,000 square feet of retail space, a multi-level
parking garage and up to 450,000 square feet of residential space. This project is subject to governmental approvals.
The other project consists of two retail buildings containing approximately 80,000 square feet. It is anticipated that
neither of these projects will commence prior to 2005. There can be no assurance that these development projects will
be completed, completed on time or completed for the budgeted amount.

Relationship with Vornado Realty Trust

The Company is managed, and its properties are leased, by Vornado pursuant to management, leasing and
development agreements with one-year terms, expiring in March of each year, which are automatically renewable.
In conjunction with the original closing of the Lexington Avenue Construction Loan on July 3, 2002, these
agreements were bifurcated to cover the Company’s Lexington Avenue property separately. Further, the
management and development agreements with Vornado for the Lexington Avenue property were amended to
provide for a term lasting until substantial completion of the property with automatic renewals, and for the payment
of the Lexington Avenue development fee upon the earlier of January 3, 2006 or the repayment finally of the
Construction Loan encumbering the property. The $6,300,000 estimated fee payable by the Company to Vornado
for the Completion Guarantee is 1% of construction costs, as defined, and is due at the same time that the
development fee is due. The development fee is estimated to be $26,300,000.

The annual fees payable by the Company to Vornado consist of (i) an annual management fee of $3,000,000 plus
3% of the gross income from the Kings Plaza Mall, (ii) a development fee equal to 6% of development costs, as
defined, with minimum guaranteed fees of $750,000 per annum, and (iii) a leasing fee. The leasing fee to Vomnado is
equal to (a) 3% of the gross proceeds, as defined, from the sale of an asset and (b) in the event of a lease or sublease of
an asset, 3% of lease rent for the first ten years of a lease term, 2% of lease rent for the eleventh through the twentieth
years of a lease term, and 1% of lease rent for the twenty-first through thirtieth year of a lease term, subject to the
payment of rents by tenants. Such amounts are payable annually in an amount not to exceed $2,500,000, until the
present value of such installments, calculated at a discount rate of 9% per annum, equals the amount that would have
been paid had they been paid at the time the transactions which gave rise to the commissions occurred. Pursuant to the
leasing agreement, in the event third party real estate brokers are used, the fees to Vornado increase by 1%.
Vornado is responsible for the fees to the third party real estate brokers, except in connection with the Bloomberg
L.P. lease, where the tenant paid the third party broker directly. At December 31, 2003, the Company owed Vornado
(A) $14,810,000 in development fees, (B) $14,586,000 in leasing fees, (C) $3,898,000 for the guarantee fee, (D)
$741,000 in interest, and (E) $392,000 in management fees and other costs.
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The following table shows the amounts incurred under the management, leasing and development agreements.

Year Ended December 31,
(amounts in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Management fee ........cccovveviiiinnenicrnien e $ 3635 § 3,602 § 3,522
Development fee, guarantee fee and rent for
development office........cccccoeririienercrinei e 10,292 10,769 1,855
Leasing and other fees .......cccconvvveniniiiinie e 3.722 3.056 3984

§ 17649 § 17427 _ % 9,361

At December 31, 2003, in addition to the fees and costs described above, the Company was indebted to Vornado
in the amount of $124,000,000 (see “— Debt and Contractual Obligations™).

Leases

The Company leases space to tenants in retail centers and an office building. The rental terms range from
approximately five to 25 years. The leases provide for the payment of fixed base rents payable monthly in advance as
well as reimbursements of real estate taxes, insurance and maintenance costs. Retail leases also provide for the

payment by the lessee of additional rents based on a percentage of their sales.

Future base rental revenue under these non-cancelable operating leases (other than leases which have not
commenced, including The Home Depot and Hennes & Mauritz leases) is as follows:

{amounts in thousands)

Year Ending December 31,

2004 ... $ 54,380
2005 .ttt 86,044
2000 ..ttt 86,336
2007 oottt et 83,224
2008 ...ttt teae 86,927
Thereafter ......cocovevieieeiccee et 1,632,863

On May 1, 2001, the Company entered into a triple-net lease with Bloomberg L.P. for the Bloomberg Space.

The initial term of the lease is 25 years with a ten-year renewal option. Base annual net rent is $34,529,000 in each

of the first four years and $38,533,000 in the fifth year with a similar percentage increase each four years thereafter.

On November 15, 2003, the Company delivered approximately 87% of the Bloomberg Space. As of February 9,

+2004, all of the Bloomberg Space has been delivered. Payment of base rent commences nine months from delivery
of each parcel of space; rent recognition commenced from delivery of space.

Dispositions of Properties

Flushing Property

On May 30, 2002, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its subsidiary which owns the building and
has the ground lease for its property in Flushing, New York for $18,750,000. The Company received a non-
refundable deposit of $1,875,000 from the purchaser. By Notice of Default dated August 16, 2002, the landlord of
the premises notified the Company of certain alleged defaults under the lease including, but not limited to, the fact
that the purchaser performed unauthorized construction at the premises. The Company commenced an action
against the landlord for injunctive relief and a declaration of the rights and obligations of the parties under the lease.
The Company has obtained an injunction, which temporarily restrains the landlord from terminating the lease. On
September 6, 2002, the scheduled closing date, the Company notified the purchaser that it failed to close and is in
default of its obligations under the purchase contract. Since the purchaser has not met its obligations under the
purchase contract, the Company recognized $1,289,000 as income, representing the non-refundable deposit of
$1,875,000, net of $586,000 for costs associated with this transaction. This income is included in “Interest and other
income, net” in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2003.
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Insurance

The Company carries comprehensive liability and all-risk property insurance (fire, flood, extended coverage and
rental loss insurance) with respect to its assets but is at risk for financial loss in excess of the policies’ limits. Such a
loss could be material.

The Company’s all-risk insurance policies in effect before September 11, 2001 did not expressly exclude
coverage for hostile acts, except acts of war. Since September 11, 2001, but prior to the enactment of the Terrorism
Risk Insurance Act of 2002, insurance companies had, for the most part, excluded terrorist acts from coverage in all-
risk policies. The Company was generally unable to obtain all-risk insurance that includes coverage for terrorist acts
for policies renewed during that period.

The Company’s debt instruments, consisting of mortgage loans secured by its properties (which are generally
non-recourse to the Company), contain customary covenants requiring the Company to maintain insurance. There can
be no assurance that the lenders under these instruments will not take the position that an exclusion from all-risk
insurance coverage for losses due to terrorist acts is a breach of these debt instruments, allowing the lenders to declare
an event of default and accelerate repayment of debt. In addition, if lenders insist on coverage for these risks, it may
adversely affect the Company’s ability to finance and/or refinance its propernes and businesses, including the
construction of the Lexington Avenue development property.

On November 26, 2002, the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 was signed into law. Under this new
legislation, through 2004 (with a possible extension through 2005), regulated insurers must offer coverage in their
commercial property and casualty policies (including existing policies) for losses resulting from defined “acts of
terrorism.” As a result of the legislation, in June 2003, the Company obtained $500,000,000 of coverage per
occurrence for certified terrorist acts, as defined in the legislation, and $150,000,000 per occurrence for non-certified
acts. In addition, on February 13, 2004, the Company increased the builders’ risk insurance coverage for its Lexington
Avenue project, which includes full coverage for certified terrorist acts, per occurrence, and $200,000,000 for non-
certified acts, per occurrence. Therefore, the Company is at risk for financial loss in excess of these limits for terrorist
acts, as defined by the policies and the legislation. Such loss could be material. Prior to June 2003, the Company had
$200,000,000 of separate aggregate coverage for terrorist acts.

Debt and Contractual Obligations

Below is a summary of the Company’s properties and their encumbrances at December 31, 2003:

(amounts in thousands except Interest
interest rates) Balance Rate Maturity
Lexington Avenue..................... $ 240,899 3.64%" Jan. 2006
Kings Plaza......cccocovereevvercncnine 216,586 7.46% June 2011
Rego Park I.....ccoviicrernneranneee 82,000 7.25% June 2009
Paramus ...t 68,000 5.92% Oct. 2011
Rego Park II (raw land)............. -- N/A N/A
Flushing (leasehold interest) ..... -- N/A N/A
Loans with Vornado®............... 124,000 12.48%" Jan. 2006
3 731,485

@ These loans bear interest at a variable rate. The rate shown is as of December 31, 2003.

@ At December 31, 2003, the Company was indebted to Vomado in the amount of $124,000, comprised of (i) a
$95,000 note and (ii) $29,000 under a $50,000 line of credit (which carries a 1% unused commitment fee). The
current interest rate on the loan and line of credit is 12.48% and resets quarterly using a 9.48% spread to one-year
treasury with a 3% floor for treasuries. On July 3, 2002, in conjunction with the original closing of the
Construction Loan, the maturity of the Vornado debt was extended to the earlier of January 3, 2006 or the date
the Construction Loan is finally repaid.

On February 13, 2004, the Company completed a $400,000,000 mortgage financing on the office space at the
Lexington Avenue project. The loan bears interest at 5.33%, matures in February 2014 and beginning in the third year,
provides for principal payments based on a 25-year amortization schedule such that over the remaining eight years of
the loan, ten years of amortization will be paid. $253,529,000 of the loan proceeds was used to repay the entire amount
outstanding under the previously existing Construction Loan. The Construction Loan was modified so that, among
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other things, the remaining availability is $237,000,000 which is approximately the amount estimated to complete the
Lexington Avenue development project (not including $29,000,000 for development and guarantee fees to Vornado).

Below is a summary of the Company’s contractual obligations at December 31, 2003.

. Less than One to Three to More than
(amounts in thousands) Total One Year Two Years Five Years Five Years
Contractual obligations
Long-term debt obligations™ ..........o.c...... $ 731485 § 3,226 $372992 § 8833 $ 346,434
Operating lease obligations 6,095 416 832 631 . 4216
Other obligations® .............ccoovvvvvrirnrniennns 105.650 64,700% 31,5009 2,500 6.950
$ 843230 § 68342 $405324 § 11,964 $ 357,600
Commitments
Standby letters of credit.....ccoeerriinnccrnies $___ 4130 $__4,130 5 - 3 - $ -

% The contractual payments under long-term debt obligations shown on a pro forma basis for the effect of the
$400,000 financing are as follows:

tsin th d Less than Oneto Three to More than
(amounts in thousands) Total One Year Two Years Five Years Five Years
Long-term debt obligations ....... $ 890,586 $ 3,226 $ 138,862 $ 28,428 $ 720,070

@ Of the construction budget for the Lexington Avenue project of $630,000 (which excludes $29,000 for
development and guarantee fees to Vornado), $402,000 has been expended through December 31, 2003 and an
additional $62,200 has been committed to at December 31, 2003,

© This amount primarily represents the estimated development and guarantee fees due to Vomado for the Lexington
Avenue project. These fees are to be paid upon the earlier of January 3, 2006 or the payment in full of the
Construction Loan encumbering the property.

Stock Appreciation Rights

As of December 31, 2003, 850,000 SARs were outstanding and exercisable at a weighted-average exercise price
of $71.82. The agreements for these SARs require that they be settled in cash. Had the holders of these SARs chosen
to exercise their rights as of December 31, 2003, the Company would have had to pay $44,917,000 in cash. Further
appreciation in the Alexander’s, Inc. stock price from the closing stock price of $124.66 at December 31, 2003 will
increase the cash the Company would have to pay upon exercise and may impact liquidity by requiring the Company to
secure additional borrowings to replace such a cash outflow.

Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31, 2003

Net cash provided by operating activities of $7,023,000 was comprised of (i) non-cash items of $4,568,000 and
(ii) the net change in operating assets and liabilities of $20,197,000, partially offset by (iii) a net loss of $17,742,000.
The adjustments for non-cash items include depreciation and amortization of $11,310,000, partially offset by the
effect of straight-lining of rental income of $6,742,000.

Net cash used in investing activities of $218,604,000 was largely comprised of capital expenditures of
$215,158,000. The capital expenditures are primarily 1elated to the Lexington Avenue development project.

Net cash provided by financing activities of $187,678,000 resulted from borrowings of $190,399,000, mainly to
fund expenditures for the Lexington Avenue development project, offset by debt repayments of $2,721,000.

Year Ended December 31, 2002

Net cash provided by operating activities of $7,643,000 was comprised of (i) net income of $23,584,000,
partially offset by (ii) non-cash items of $4,600,000 and (iii) the net change in operating assets and liabilities of
$11,341,000. The adjustments for non-cash items include (a) the gain on the sale of the Third Avenue property of
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$10,366,000, (b) the effect of straight-lining of rental income of $3,099,000 and (c) the gain on the sale of air rights
of $169,000, partially offset by depreciation and amortization of $9,034,000.

Net cash used in investing activities of $114,028,000 (includes cash provided by discontinued operations of
$13,176,000) was largely comprised of capital expenditures of $133,250,000, partially offset by the proceeds from
the sale of the Third Avenue property of $13,176,000. The capital expenditures were primarily related to the
Lexington Avenue development project.

Net cash provided by financing activities of $16,366,000 resulted mainly from debt proceeds of $55,500,000,
partially offset by debt repayments of $27,524,000 and debt issuance costs of $11,110,000.

Year Ended December 31, 2001

Net cash provided by operating activities of $9,839,000 was comprised of (i) income from continuing and
discontinued operations of $8,360,000 and (ii) non-cash items of $6,378,000, partially offset by the net change in
operating assets and liabilities of $4,899,000. The adjustments for non-cash items include (a) the write off of
architectural and engineering costs of $3,058,000 associated with the development plans for the Paramus property
prior to the IKEA Property, Inc. ground lease, (b) the write off of professional fees of $2,030,000 resulting from the
termination of the spin-off of Alexander’s Tower LLC and (c) depreciation and amortization of $7,973,000, partially
offset by (d) a gain from early extinguishment of debt of $3,534,000 and (e) the effect of straight-lining of rental
income of $3,149,000.

Net cash used in investing activities of $22,995,000 was comprised of (i) capital expenditures of $48,490,000
and (ii) an increase in restricted cash of $19,876,000, partially offset by (iii) net proceeds from the sale of the
Fordham Road property of $23,701,000 and (iv) the release of restricted cash of $21,670,000. The capital
expenditures were primarily comprised of (a) capitalized interest and other carrying costs of $21,378,000, (b)
renovations to the Kings Plaza Regional Shopping Center of $3,651,000 and (c) excavation, foundation and
predevelopment costs at Lexington Avenue of $21,599,000.

Net cash provided by financing activities of $146,142,000 was comprised of (i) proceeds from the issuance of
debt of $300,685,000, partially offset by (ii) the repayment of debt of $149,337,000 and (iii) debt issuance costs of
$5,206,000.

Funds from Operations (“FFO”) for the Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

FFO was a negative $10,245,000 in the year ended December 31, 2003, compared to FFO of $19,921,000 in
the year ended December 31, 2002, a decrease of $30,166,000. FFO for the year ended December 31, 2003 includes
(i) accrued compensation expense for SARs of $44,917,000, based on the Company’s closing stock price of $124.66
at December 31, 2003, (ii) $1,289,000 resulting from the recognition as income of the non-refundable deposit from
the planned sale of the Flushing property of $1,875,000, net of $586,000 for costs associated with this transaction
and (iii) income from discontinued operations of $1,206,000 representing the reversal of previously accrued
contingent liabilities. Effective with the Company’s filing of its 2003 first quarter Form 10-Q, the Company revised
its definition of FFO to include the effect of straight-lining of rents and exclude the effect of leasing fees paid
directly to Vornado in excess of the expense recognized. This change was made in order to comply with the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s Regulation G concerning non-GAAP financial measures, to adhere to the
National Association of Real Estate Investment Trust’s (“NAREIT”) definition of FFO and to disclose FFO on a
comparable basis with the vast majority of other companies in the industry. FFO for the year ended December 31,
2002 has been restated for comparability. Straight-lining of rents amounted to $6,742,000, or $1.35 per share, and
$3,099,000, or $0.62 per share, for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Leasing fees paid in
excess of the expense recognized amounted to $2,387,000, or $0.48 per share, and $2,189,000, or $0.44 per share,
for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Such amounts are included in reported FFO
described above.
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The following table reconciles net (loss) income to FFO.

For The Year
(amounts in thousands except per share amounts) Ended December 31,
. 2003 2002

Net (loss) income ........ccocvvnune. ettt $ (17,742) $ 23,584
Depreciation of real property (including $35 from

discontinued operations in 2002)............ccceevrerinn. 7,497 6,703
Gain on sale of Third Avenue property............cccoeeeee. ‘ - (10,366)
FFO .ottt sttt es et seas s senaes $ (10245) $ 19921
FFO per common share — basic and diluted................. b (2.05) 3 398

FFO does not represent cash generated from operating activities in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America and is not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund cash
needs, which is disclosed in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the applicable periods. There are no
material legal or functional restrictions on the use of FFO. FFO should not be considered as an alternative to net
(loss) income as an indicator of the Company’s operating performance. Management considers FFO a relevant
supplemental measure of operating performance because it provides a basis for comparison among REITs. FFO is
computed in accordance with NAREIT’s standards, which may not be comparable to FFO reported by other REITs
that do not define the term in accordance with NAREIT’s definition or that interpret NAREIT’s definition
differently.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
The following table summarizes the Company’s exposure to a change in interest rates.

(amounts in thousands except per share amounts)

Effect of
Weighted- Change in
December 31, Average Base Rates of
2003 Balance  Interest Rate 1%
Variable rate .........cocconce.. 3 364,899 6.64% $ 3,649
Fixed rate ......occcvvcvremrennne 366,586 7.13% -
731,485 3.649
Total effect on the Company’s annual net earning per share —
QL. ...ttt et een $ 0.73

The fair value of the Company’s debt, estimated by discounting the future cash flows using the current rates
available to borrowers with similar credit ratings for the remaining terms of such debt, exceeds the aggregate carrying
amount by approximately $14,631,000 at December 31, 2003. Such fair value estimates are not necessarily indicative
of the amounts that would be paid upon liquidation of the Company’s debt.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Page
Number

Independent AUAItOTS” REPOTT ...c...ovmiuiuiirereriirertre ettt 34
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2003 and 2002........cccooveeievricmeeciieeeere e 35
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the

Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 ........cvoovioieiiiieeieieeeeeeecacreevesve v 36
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the

Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 .......oovooviiiieeeeeeeeecee e 37
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the

Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 .....coooueeiiomreeieieieceicee et 38
Notes to Consolidated Financial StAtEMENLS ..........ccvoveveereeriiereceeeeere sttt ereere e ereereene 39

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures — The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on such
evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of
such period, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

(b) Internal Control over Financial Reporting — There have not been any changes in the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year to which this Annual Report on Form 10-K
relates that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Board of Directors and Stockholders of Alexander’s, Inc.
Paramus, New Jersey

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Alexander’s, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”)
as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. Our audits also included the financial
statement schedules listed in the index at Item 15(a)(2). These financial statements and financial statement schedules
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements and financial statement schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinjon.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the
basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly in all material respects the information set forth
therein.

As discussed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its presentation of the
consolidated financial statements to conform to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
March 2, 2004
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ALEXANDER’S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(amounts in thousands except share and per share amounts)

ASSETS
Real estate, at cost:

Buildings, leaseholds and leasehold improvements ..........c.cccoevrverccnceeeninenrern s
Construction in progress (including fees to Vornado of $23,197 and $13,325)................
Air rights acquired for Lexington Avenue development project ........c..coveencivccccnianes

Accumulated depreciation and amoOTtiZation ...........cooverecnieceneinecre e eeeereenes
REAL ESLALE, T1EL......ccueeveieieeeeeeeietc et re e st e sae st et e e et ssereens et brea et s erenaete et enssesseestenssatsatessbnann.

Cash and cash eqUIVAIENS .....ccceciiireii et
Escrow deposits and restricted cash .......coorecierininceecnecreeree e
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $55 and $96..................
Receivable arising from the straight-1ining of TeNtS ..........cocenvrererencnrneieee s
Deferred lease and other property costs (including unamortized leasing fees to Vornado

0f 831,021 and $14,837), DEL ...ttt st e
Deferred debt eXpense, TEL.......cccovreiiinteintreei ettt s
OHRET @SSEES.....verreeecriri sttt et e e ettt en e st bt
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Debt (including $124,000 and $119,000 due to Vornado) .......coceverevenennsimeesenreneescnnenenenes
Amounts due to Vornado...........ceceeenircccinrinescnerennnnas SOOI PO
Accounts payable and accrued EXPEnSES.....oivimi it e
Liability for stock appreciation Tghts .......c.cceeeerriienini e e ne
Oher HADIIHIES . c...oeiiieeniceere et et s e en e st e ni e re et en
TOTAL LIABILITIES

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY .

Preferred stock: $1.00 par value per share; authorized, 3,000,000 shares; issued, none...

Common stock: $1.00 par value per share; authorized, 10,000,000 shares; issued,
5,173,450 Shares ..cccvieviiiricieiireces ettt s b e srs e s e st e en e e e enbentes

AdAIONAL CAPIAL....c.ve oo er e erer et am e seae e et en e e bt n et nbene

RetaINed CAITHNES ... ..ovevrierireeermcierrie et ittt et sttt bbbt sen e ene

Treasury shares: 172,600 Shares at COSt....c.ccovvervmriririierecee et et aenene
Total StOCKROIAETS” EQUILY ..uvuveireeecrietriece ettt et eise et sb b

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2003 2002
$ 91928 $ 90,768
371,353 176,581
355,015 315,781
17,531 17,531
835,827 600,661
(62.744) (57.686)
773,083 542,975
21,336 45,239
16,291 2,425
3,101 2,508
27,412 20,670
61,594 27,765
10,806 14,619
7373 8,711
$ 920996  § 664,912
$ 731,485 § 543,807
34,427 11,294
47,402 36,895
44,917 -
11.842 4251
870,073 596,247
5,174 5,174
24,843 24,843
21,866 39,608
51,883 69,625
(960) (960)
50,923 68,665
$ 920996 $ 664912



ALEXANDER’S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(amounts in thousands except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,
: 2003 2002 2001
REVENUES _
Property rEntals ......ccoevvecrrieriecenitiin s sb s $56,785 $50,630 $44,560
EXpense reimbUISEIMENLS ..........covvviiimsinimieireseies et s ssns 30,377 26,170 23,232
TOLAl TEVEIIES ettt sttt e e e bbb sraanaone 87.162 76.800 67.792
EXPENSES
Operating {including management fees to Vornado of $1,475, $1,442 and
B1,362) oottt e ettt et e 37,984 33,042 29,265
Write off of architectural and engineering costs associated with
development plans for Paramus prior to IKEA ground lease..........ccocceenne - -- 3,058
General and administrative (including management fees to Vornado of
$2,160 in each year) 48,921 3,980 3,836
Depreciation and amortization..........cc.vereeveeeeresiiinieernieieeereeserersesseeressenes 7.497 6.668 6.442
TOtal EXPENSES ...ccviveiiirintereeee e et e 94,402 43,690 42,601
OPERATING (LOSS) INCOME .......cccovmvimrriiiniciiiiiiesice e eseesreenens (7,240) 33,110 25,191
Interest and Other INCOME, NEL.......ccurvniimmniiii s 1,983 2,178 3,237
Interest and debt expense (including interest on loans from Vornado)........... (13,691) (22,888) (22,469)
Gain on early extinguishment 0f debt...........ccovieiinnicinincccr e - -- 3,534
Write off of professional fees resulting from termination of spin-off of
Alexander’s TOWer LLC ....ccovieeineiceieneicnce ittt sn e - - (2,030)
MIDNOTILY IRETEST.....oeevereirceriiiiii ettt et - - (49)
(Loss) income from continuing OPErations .........ceceeeevereevenreserveeseseecessesueans (18,948) 12,400 7,414
Income from discontinued OPerations ..........cccevvivveiirnioniivenenririernineesresnseenne 1.206 11.184 - 946
(Loss) income before gain on sale of Fordham Road property .........ccocceeuen. (17,742) 23,584 8,360
Gain on sale of Fordham Road property ........cccvvieecicnninecnneneecneenenns -- -- 19,026
NET (LOSS) INCOME ........ccoooiiiiniinercenciiiiie st eereneeeeneneeneenens $(17,742) $23,584 327,386
Net (loss) income per common share (basic and diluted): ‘
(Loss) income from continuing OPerations.........co.veerererrrrerensererearnsressereens $ 3.79) $ 248 $ 148
Income from discontinued OPErations .........cccoveiiiriciiniiciencineneeenceereneereene 0.24 2.24 0.19
Gain on sale of Fordham Road property ... - -- 3.81
Net (J0SS) INCOIMIE ....oveiveierireerereeiieeere e seeieseesesiereste sttt ses e e aseses e ssesearas $ (3.55) § 472 § 548

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALEXANDER'’S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(amounts in thousands)

Retained
Common Additional (Deficit) Treasury Stockholders’

Stock Capital Earnings Shares Equity
Balance, January 1, 2001 .....c.ccoceevenne $ 5174 $ 24,843 $(11,362) $ (960) § 17,695
Net INCOME ...vvvviveriicrircrcniencnnenens -- - 27,386 -- 27.386
Balance, December 31, 2001 ............ 5174 24,843 16,024 {960) 45,081
NEt IMCOME ...ovvieevecerreeicerereeessnenas -- -- 23,584 -- 23,584
Balance, December 31, 2002............ 5,174 24,843 39,608 (960) 68,665
NEt 1OSS ceoovevierieecereveec e -- - (17,742} - (17.742)
Balance, December 31, 2003............. $ 5174 24,843 21.866 $ (960) $ 50923

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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ALEXANDER’S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(amounts in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss) income from CONtiNUing OPErations: ........ceecvureereveeerrercsereeessrmersennensens $ (18,948) $ 12,400 $ 7414

Adjustments to reconcile (loss) income from continuing operations to net
cash provided by continuing operations:

Depreciation and amortization (including debt issuance costs) ............... 11,310 8,999 7,907
Straight-lining of rental income.........cccocoverviinnnes et (6,742) (3,099) (3,149)
Gain on sale of @ir rights.......ccoverevcnniniiil et -- (169) -
Gain on early extinguishment of debt ......c.ccocoviviiriniinninneee -- - (3,534)
Write off of architectural and engineering costs associated with
development plans for Paramus prior to IKEA ground lease................ -- - 3,058
Write off of professional fees resulting from termination of spin-off
of Alexander’s TOWer LLC .....ccccconieniemninceceneriee e -- -- 2,030
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts 1eceivable, TEt.......ovorecererire e (593) (974) 189
Amounts due to VOrnado ........c.cccevevrieienieiiveresesiesie e creseeresreenssresaesrenne 14,012 (3,115) 3,555
Accounts payable and accrued eXpenses.........cowiirniecereeninennsies s (379) (2,845) 348
Other HHabIHLES ......eevvirerenrieiirniiereeirenee st re s e saeeaen 11,192 (789) 932
OHHET ..ottt ettt e e s e nre sear e ee st seeeseanees (2,829) (3,618) (9,923)
Net cash provided by continuing operations.........ccovoveniiveeienenrinennnenns 7,023 6.790 8.827
Income from discontinued OPErations ........c.ocecerverevrenererirrererenereecserereseresescsens 1,206 11,184 946
Depreciation and amOrtiZation .........c.coecevieiniiiinenerreeereseeteerserenees -- 35 66
Change in other Habilities ... ...coocoeneerninmiciine e (1,206) -- --
Gain on sale of Third Avenue property.......increercercnnercereserenreas - (10.366) -
Net cash provided by discontinued Operations..........ccooeevvieieiiicnnicrieniininnns -- 853 1,012
Net cash provided by operating activities .......cooeviniiiiiiniiennienees 7.023 7.643 9,839

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash flows from continuing operations:

Additions to real State .........coiieiiicn e (215,158) (133,250) (48,490)
Restricted cash made available for construction financing ..........c.ccoeeceene - -- 8,388
Restricted cash made available for operating liabilities ...........c.occcvverinnne. 10,657 13,574 13,282
Cash restricted for operating Habilities ...........ocveeiviincinnicnencneene. (14,103) (9,403) (19,876)
Deposit on sale of Flushing property .......cccovvnniicneencrevcrmsnecnes - 1,875 --
Net proceeds from sale of Fordham Road property.......ccccoeecoveucnnecnennnee -- -- 23.701
Net cash used in cONtiNUING OPEIAtIONS .....vvcueurveurierruirerererereinreresieresseesssesesnes (218,604) (127,204) (22,995)
Cash flows from discontinued operations:
Net proceeds from sale of Third Avenue property ..........cococeveeeevreineneae - 13,176 --
Net cash used in investing actiVItIEs.......cccvcercrnrneiiniieene e (218.604) (114.028) (22.995)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings (including $5,000, $0 and $4,000 from

VOINAAO) e ettt ettt ettt ressee b e et e s et s st ensstotsnanes 190,399 55,500 300,685
Repayments 0f BOITOWINES. .....cocrericernuriereniemrcereietsiseaesaieeeeesaseesenens (2,721) (27,524) (149,337)
Deferred debt €XPense ......vveirerieireereeeeinieerrerirere e esassetessases st ssessses -- (11,110) (5,206)
Payment of acquisition obligation..........ccoverviniiiiieecieerer e -~ (500 --

Net cash provided by financing activities ...........cccoeovrinininnceinennicnenenre e 187.678 16,366 146,142
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents ........ccoevovoevereccieeenenne (23,903) (90,019) 132,986
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year..........ccoccovvvvennieneienenens 45,239 135258 2,272
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year........cccoccecevicvvinncrseneeeeeereenne $ 21336 $ 45239 $ 135,258

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION
Cash payments for interest (of which $37,516, $23,788 and $19,259 have
been capitalized) ......cooveevireeir e $ 46,861 § 45818 $ 38793

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALEXANDER’S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS

Alexander’s, Inc. (the “Company”) is a real estate investment trust (“REIT”), incorporated in Delaware, engaged
in leasing, managing, developing and redeveloping properties. Alexander’s activities are conducted through its
manager, Vornado Realty Trust (“Vornado™).

Alexander’s has six properties in the greater New York City metropolitan area consisting of:

Operating properties

(1) the Kings Plaza Regional Shopping Center, located on Flatbush Avenue in Brooklyn, New York, which
contains 1,098,000 square feet and is comprised of a two-level mall containing 470,000 square feet, a
289,000 square foot department store leased to Sears and another anchor department store owned and
operated as a Macy’s by Federated Department Stores, Inc.;

(i)  the Rego Park I property, located on Queens Boulevard and 63" Road in Queens, New York, which
contains a 351,000 square foot building that is 100% leased to Sears, Circuit City, Bed Bath & Beyond,
Marshalls and Old Navy;

(iii)  the Paramus property, which consists of 30.3 acres of land located at the intersection of Routes 4 and 17
in Paramus, New Jersey, which is leased to IKEA Property, Inc; and

(iv)  the Flushing property, located at Roosevelt Avenue and Main Street in Flushing, New York, which
contains a 177,000 square foot building that is currently vacant;

Property under development

(v)  the Lexington Avenue development property, which comprises the entire square block bounded by
Lexington Avenue, East 59® Street, Third Avenue and East 58" Street in Manhattan, New York; and

Property to be developed

(vi)  the Rego Park II property, which comprises one and one-half square blocks of vacant land adjacent to
the Rego Park I property.

In the aggregate, Alexander’s operating properties do not generate sufficient cash flow to pay all of its expenses.
After the completion of the Lexington Avenue property, which is expected in 2005, the Company expects that cash
flow will become positive.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation — The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company and all of 1ts wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany amounts have been eliminated. The
preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The Company currently operates in one business segment.

Real Estate — Real estate is carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is
provided on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives, which range from seven to 50 years.
Betterments, significant renewals and certain costs directly related to the acquisition, improvement and leasing of real
estate are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred. As real estate is undergoing
development activities, all property operating expenses, including interest expense, are capitalized to the cost of the real
property to the extent that management believes such costs are recoverable through the value of the property.
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The Company’s properties are reviewed for impairment if events or circumstances change indicating that the
carrying amount of the property may not be recoverable. In such an event, a comparison is made of the current and
projected operating cash flows of each such property into the foreseeable future on an undiscounted basis to the
carrying amount of the property. The carrying amount of an asset would be adjusted, if necessary, to reflect an
impairment in the value of the asset.

Cash and Cash Equivalents — Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments purchased with
original maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents do not include deposits received on sales of
condominium units at the Lexington Avenue property or cash restricted under financing arrangements. Such cash is
reflected on the consolidated balance sheets as “Escrow deposits and restricted cash.”

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts — The Company periodically evaluates the collectibility of amounts due from
tenants and maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of tenants to
make required payments under their leases. Management exercises judgment in establishing these allowances,
considering payment history and current credit status to develop these estimates.

Deferred Charges — Direct financing costs are deferred and amortized over the terms of the related agreements as
a component of interest and debt expense. Direct costs related to leasing activities are capitalized and amortized on a
straight-line basis over the lives of the related leases. All other deferred charges are amortized on a straight-line basis,
which approximates the effective interest rate method, in accordance with the terms of the agreements to which they
relate.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments — The fair value of the Company’s debt, estimated by discounting the future
cash flows using the current rates available to borrowers with similar credit ratings for the remaining terms of such
debt, exceeds the aggregate carrying amount by approximately $14,631,000 at December 31, 2003. Such fair value
estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that would be paid upon liquidation of the Company’s debt.

Revenue Recognition — The Company has the following revenue sources and revenue recognition policies:

Base rent (revenue arising from tenant leases) — These rents are recognized over the non-cancelable term of the
related leases on a straight-line basis which includes the effects of rent steps and free rent abatements under the leases.

Percentage Rents (revenue arising from retail tenant leases that is contingent upon the sales of tenants exceeding
defined thresholds) —~ These rents are recognized in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue
Recognition, which states that this contingent revenue is only to be recognized after the contingency has been removed
(i.e., the sales threshold has been achieved).

Expense Reimbursements (revenue arising from tenant leases which provide for the recovery of all or a portion of
the operating expenses and real estate taxes of the respective properties) — This revenue is accrued in the same periods
as the expenses are incurred.

Condominium Sales (income arising from the sales of condominium units at the Lexington Avenue property) —
Income on deposits received for sales of condominium units has been deferred in accordance with the deposit method
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate.

Income Taxes — The Company operates in a manner intended to enable it to continue to qualify as a REIT under
Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). Under the Code, the
Company’s net operating loss carryovers (“NOLs”) generally would be available to offset the amount of the
Company’s REIT taxable income that would otherwise be required to be distributed as dividends to its stockholders.

At December 31, 2003, the Company has reported NOLs for federal tax purposes of approximately $64,518,000,

expiring from 2007 to 2015. The Company also has investment and targeted jobs tax credits of approximately
$2,800,000 expiring from 2008 to 2014.
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The following table reconciles net (loss) income to REIT taxable income for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001.

Years Ended December 31,

(amounts in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Net (1088) INCOME.....c.vverecmimiirirenreereerieseseersi e eiesioes 3 (17,742) § 23,584 % 27,386
Straight-line rent adjustments. ..........coceceevcercrrercnererininene (6,668) (2,953) (3,002)
Depreciation and amortization timing differences........... 2,859 2,985 2,625
Differences on gain of sale 0f assets .......cocvivercrirninninee - 1,345 16,026
IDLETESt EXPEISE .....vevvevrrereserrmremiesrereesesssssssssssresnsseens e (2,837) (2,972) (6,515)
Stock appreciation rights compensation expense ............ 44,917 -- --
IDLErest INCOME. ...coivviiviieieererinree e iire s ireeaeseren e sesstenes 10,439 - -
OhET ....ooovveveemmeemeeasisssissisns et s (1422) 988 (1.181)
Taxable INCOMIE........cvevreeriereeiere et e ereebeeveesbens 29,546 22,977 35,339
NOL carry forward beginning balance ............cccuoeeveennee (94,064) (117,041) (152.380)
NOL carry forward ending balance........c.coovvcreecminnnee A (64518) 3 __ (94064) § ___(117,041)

The net basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities for tax purposes is approximately $51,000,000 lower than
the amount reported for financial statement purposes.

The Company has elected to treat its wholly owned subsidiary, 731 Residential LLC (“Residential”}, as a taxable
REIT subsidiary (“TRS”). A TRS is subject to income tax at regular corporate tax rates. The Company’s NOLs will
not be available to offset taxable income of Residential. Residential owns the assets comprising the residential
condominium units at the Company’s Lexington Avenue project. Residential paid no income taxes in the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001. Residential’s net basis in its assets and liabilities for tax purposes approxunates
their basis for financial reporting purposes.

Amounts. Per Share — Basic earnings per share are computed based on weighted — average shares outstanding.
Diluted earnings per share consider the effect of outstanding stock options.

Stock Options — The Company accounts for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method. Under
the intrinsic value method, compensation cost is measured as the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of the
Company’s common stock at the date of grant over the exercise price of the option granted. Compensation cost for
stock options, if any, is recognized ratably over the vesting period. The Company’s policy is to grant options with
an exercise price equal to the quoted market price of the Company’s common stock on the grant date. Accordingly,
no compensation expense has been recognized for the Company’s stock options.

If compensation cost for stock option awards had been determined based on the fair values at the grant dates, net
(loss) income and net (loss) income per share would have been the pro forma amounts shown below in the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

(amounts in thousands except Year Ended December 31,
per share amounts) 2003, 2002 2001
Net (loss) income:

ASTEPOItEd ...eveeere et $ (17,742) $ 23,584 $ 27,386
Less: stock — based compensation expense

determined under fair value method................. -- 384 1,535
Pro forma......cooevecnnncecteee e 3 (17,742) $ 23,200 $ 25,851
ASTEPOTEED ..ot neeerenses h (3.55) i 4.72 3 5.48
Pro fOImMa....coovieeiireeiireeecnnete s s s evesesesenees ¥ (3.55) $ 4.64 $ 5.17

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123. SFAS No. 148
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provides alternative methods of transition for entities that voluntarily change to the fair value method of accounting for
stock-based employee compensation in accordance with SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.
As noted above, the Company continues to account for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method.

Stock Appreciation Rights — Stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) are granted at 100% of the market price of the
Company’s common stock on the date of grant. SARs vest ratably, becoming fully vested 36 months after grant, and
generate compensation expense measured by the excess of the stock price over the exercise price at the balance sheet
date. On subsequent balance sheet dates, if the stock price falls, the previously recognized expense is reversed, but not
below zero.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards — In April 2002, FASB issued SFAS No. 145, Rescission of FASB
Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections. SFAS No. 145
requires, among other things, that (i) the modification of a lease that results in a change of the classification of the
lease from capital to operating under the provisions of SFAS No. 13, Accounting for Leases, be accounted for as a
sale-leaseback transaction and (if) the reporting of gains or losses from the early extinguishment of debt as
extraordinary items only if they meet the criteria of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, Reporting the
Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual
and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions. The amendment of SFAS No. 13 had no impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements. As required by this statement, the Company reclassified the
$3,534,000 extraordinary gain in the year ended December 31, 2001 to “Gain on early extinguishment of debt.”

3. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Vomado Realty Trust

Vornado owned 33.1% of the Company’s common stock as of December 31, 2003. Steven Roth is the Chief
Executive Officer and a director of the Company, the Managing General Partner of Interstate Properties (“Interstate’), a
New Jersey general partnership, and the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Vornado. At December
31, 2003, Mr. Roth, Interstate and its other two general partners, David Mandelbaum and Russell B. Wight, Jr. (who
are also directors of the Company and trustees of Vornado) owned, in the aggregate, 27.5% of the outstanding common
stock of the Company, in addition to the common stock owned directly by Vornado, and 11.7% of the outstanding
common shares of beneficial interest of Vornado.

The Company is managed, and its properties are leased, by Vornado pursuant to management, leasing and
development agreements with one-year terms, expiring in March of each year, which are automatically renewable.
In conjunction with the original closing of the Lexington Avenue construction loan (the “Construction Loan”) on
July 3, 2002, these agreements were bifurcated to cover the Company’s Lexington Avenue property separately.
Further, the management and development agreements with Vornado for the Lexington Avenue property were
amended to provide for a term lasting until substantial completion of the property with automatic renewals, and for
the payment of the Lexington Avenue development fee upon the earlier of January 3, 2006 or the repayment fully of
the Construction Loan encumbering the property.

Vornado has agreed to guarantee to the construction lender, the lien free, timely completion of the construction
of the Lexington Avenue project and funding of project costs in excess of a stated loan budget, if not funded by the
Company (the “Completion Guarantee™). The $6,300,000 estimated fee payable by the Company to Vornado for the
Completion Guarantee is 1% of construction costs, as defined, and is due at the same time that the development fee
is due. This development fee is estimated to be $26,300,000. In addition, if Vornado should advance any funds
under the Completion Guarantee in excess of $21,000,000, which is available at December 31, 2003 under the line
of credit with Vornado (see Note 8), interest on those advances would be at 15% per annum.

The annual fees payable by the Company to Vornado consist of (i) an annual management fee of $3,000,000 plus
3% of the gross income from the Kings Plaza Mall, (ii) a development fee equal to 6% of development costs, as
defined, with minimum guaranteed fees of $750,000 per annum, and (iii) a leasing fee. The leasing fee to Vornado is
equal to (a) 3% of the gross proceeds, as defined, from the sale of an asset and (b) in the event of a lease or sublease of
an asset, 3% of lease rent for the first ten years of a lease term, 2% of lease rent for the eleventh through the twentieth
years of a lease term, and 1% of lease rent for the twenty-first through thirtieth year of a lease term, subject to the
payment of rents by tenants. Such amounts are payable annually in an amount not to exceed $2,500,000, until the
present value of such installments, calculated at a discount rate of 9% per annum, equals the amount that would have
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been paid had they been paid at the time the transactions which gave rise to the commissions occurred. Pursuant to the
leasing agreement, in the event third party real estate brokers are used, the fees to Vornado increase by 1%.
Vornado is responsible for the fees to the third party real estate brokers, except in connection with the Bloomberg
L.P. lease, where the tenant paid the third party broker directly. At December 31, 2003, the Company owed Vornado
(A) $14,810,000 in development fees, (B) $14,586,000 in leasing fees, (C) $3,898,000 for the guarantee fee, (D)
$741,000 in interest, and (E) $392,000 in management fees and other costs.

The following table shows the amounts incurred under-the management, leasing and development agreements.

Year Ended December 31,
(amounts in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Management fE€ ........ocvvirirrieinenenecereee e $ 3635 § 3602 §$ 3,522
Development fee, guarantee fee and rent for
development OffiCe.......cccoceirevcavvrercnirrce e 10,292 10,769 1,855
Leasing and other fees .......cooeeeviiiinniiie e 3722 3,056 3.984

h 17,649 § 17427 _ % 9,361

At December 31, 2003, in addition to the fees and costs described above, the Company was indebted to Vomado
in the amount of $124,000,000 (see Note 8). The Company incurred interest (including a 1% unused commitment fee
on the line of credit) on this debt of $15,633,000, $15,547,000 and $17,455,000 for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

In July 2002, Alexander’s Tower LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, purchased 28,821 square
feet of air rights from a joint venture developing a property at Lexington Avenue and 30® Street in Manhattan, and
owned by Vornado and an unrelated third party (the “30® Street Venture”) for a purchase price of $3,459,000 ($120
per square foot). The Company purchased these air rights in order to increase the amount of square footage that it
could develop for the residential portion of its Lexington Avenue project to the maximum amount permitted for
residential use by the New York City zoning code. The 30® Street Venture also identified third party buyers for an
additional 28,111 square feet of air rights which it owned. These third party buyers desired to use the air rights for the
development of two projects located in upper Manhattan in the general area of 86" Street. However, the air rights held
by the 30" Street Venture could not be transferred to the applicable sites because they were not within the required
geographical limited radius nor were they in the same Community Board District as the 30" Street Venture. The 30%
Street Venture asked the Company to sell 28,111 square feet of its existing air rights to these third party buyers, who
could use them; the 30 Street Venture would replace them with 28,111 square feet of the 30" Street Venture’s air
rights. In October 2002, the Company purchased 28,111 square feet of air rights from the 30" Street Venture in two
transactions for an aggregate purchase price of $3,058,000 (an average of $109 per square foot). The Company then
sold an equal amount of air rights it previously owned at the Lexington Avenue project to the third party buyers for a
sales price of $3,339,000, resulting in a gain of $169,000. This gain is included in “Interest and other income, net” in
the Company’s 2002 consolidated statement of operations.

In connection with tax planning for the development of the Lexington Avenue property, 59" Street
Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, sold 100 shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value, to
Vornado in August 2001 for $1,200,000. This non-convertible preferred stock entitled the holder to cumulative 10%
dividends payable semi-annually and was redeemable at any time at the option of 59" Street Corporation. In
December 2001, 59 Street Corporation redeemed this issue and paid a $49,000 dividend.

Other

In the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, Winston & Strawn LLP, a law firm in which Neil
Underberg, a director of the Company, is of counsel, performed legal services for the Company for which it was paid
$100,000, $480,000 and $648,000, respectively.
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4. LEXINGTON AVENUE PROJECT

The development at Lexington Avenue consists of an approximately 1.3 million square foot multi-use building.
The building will contain approximately 885,000 net rentable square feet of office space, approximately 171,000 net
rentable square feet of retail space and approximately 248,000 net saleable square feet of residential space consisting
of condominium units (through a TRS). Of the construction budget of $630,000,000 (which excludes $29,000,000
for development and guarantee fees to Vornado), $402,000,000 has been expended through December 31, 2003 and
an additional $62,200,000 has been committed to at December 31, 2003. Construction is expected to be completed in
2005.

On May 1, 2001, the Company entered into a triple-net lease with Bloomberg L.P. for approximately 695,000
square feet of office space at the Lexington Avenue property (the “Bloomberg Space™). The initial term of the lease
is 25 years with a ten-year renewal option. Base annual net rent is $34,529,000 in each of the first four years and
$38,533,000 in the fifth year with a similar percentage increase each four years thereafter. On November 15, 2003, the
Company delivered approximately 87% of the space. Accordingly, the Company transferred approximately
$195,000,000 from “Construction in progress” to “Land” and “Buildings, leaseholds and leasehold improvements”
in the year ended December 31, 2003. As of February 9, 2004, all of the Bloomberg Space has been delivered.
Payment of base rent commences nine months from delivery of each parcel of space; rent recognition commenced
from delivery of space.

At December 31, 2003, 115,000 square feet of retail space has been leased, of which The Home Depot and
Hennes & Mauritz have leased 83,000 and 27,000 square feet, respectively. The Company expects to deliver the
leased space in 2004. Payment of base rent commences six to nine months from delivery of each space; rent
recognition commences on delivery of space.

The residential space is comprised of 105 condominium units. The original offering plan filed for these units, as
amended for price increases through December 31, 2003, would produce (inclusive of the value of existing contracts)
an aggregate sale price of $457,000,000. As of December 31, 2003, the Company has received deposits of
$10,425,000 on sales of the condominium units.

Financing of the Project

On February 13, 2004, the Company completed a $400,000,000 mortgage financing on the office space. The loan
was placed by German American Capital Corporation, an affiliate of Deutsche Bank. The loan bears interest at 5.33%,
matures in February 2014 and beginning in the third year, provides for principal payments based on a 25-year
amortization schedule such that over the remaining eight years of the loan, ten years of amortization will be paid.
$253,529,000 of the loan proceeds was used to repay the entire amount outstanding under the previously existing the
Construction Loan with Hypo Real Estate Capital Corporation.

The Construction Loan was modified so that the remaining availability is $237,000,000, which is approximately
the amount estimated to complete the Lexington Avenue development project (not including $29,000,000 for
development and guarantee fees to Vornado). The interest rate of the Construction Loan of LIBOR plus 2.5% (3.64%
at December 31, 2003) and the maturity date of January 2006, with two one-year extensions, were not changed. The
collateral for the Construction Loan is the same except that the office space has been removed from the lien. Further,
the Construction Loan permits the release of the retail space for a payment of $15 million and requires all proceeds
from the sale of the residential condominium units to be applied to the Construction Loan balance until it is finally
repaid. In connection with reducing the principal amount of the Construction Loan, the Company will write off
$3,050,000, the proportionate share of unamortized deferred financing costs, in the first quarter of 2004. Vornado has
agreed to guarantee to the construction lender, the lien free, timely completion of the construction of the Lexington
Avenue project and funding of project costs in excess of a stated loan budget, if not funded by the Company. If
Vormado should advance any funds under the Completion Guarantee in excess of $21,000,000, which is the amount
currently available under the line of credit with Vornado, interest on those advances would be at 15% per annum.

There can be no assurance that the Lexington Avenue project will be completed on time or completed for the

budgeted amount. Any failure to complete the Lexington Avenue project on time or within budget may adversely
affect future cash flows and the Company’s financial condition.
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5. PARAMUS PROPERTY

On October 5, 2001, the Company entered into a ground lease for its Paramus, New Jersey property with IKEA
Property, Inc. The lease has a 40-year term with a purchase option at the end of the twentieth year for $75,000,000.
Further, the Company has a $68,000,000 interest only, non-recourse mortgage loan on the property from a third party
lender. The fixed interest rate on the debt is 5.92% with interest payable monthly until maturity in October 2011. The
triple-net rent each year is the sum of $700,000 plus the amount of debt service on the mortgage loan. If the purchase
option is not exercised at the end of the twentieth year, the triple-net rent for the last 20 years must include debt service
sufficient to fully amortize $68,000,000 over the remaining 20-year lease term.

6. LEASES
As Lessor

The Company leases space to tenants in retail centers and an office building. The rental terms range from
approximately five to 25 years. The leases provide for the payment of fixed base rents payable monthly in advance as
well as reimbursements of real estate taxes, insurance and maintenance costs. Retail leases also provide for the -
payment by the lessee of additional rents based on a percentage of their sales.

Future base rental revenue under these non-cancelable operating leases (other than leases which have not
commenced, including The Home Depot and Hennes & Mauritz leases) is as follows:

{amounts in thousands)

Year Ending December 31,

2004 ...ttt $ 54,380
2005 .ottt 86,044
2000t rsiene 86,336
2007 1ottt 83,224
2008 ..o se e anesenas 86,927
Thereafter .....oveevevevericeee e 1,632,863

These future minimum amounts do not include additional rents based on a percentage of tenants’ sales. For the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, these rents were $945,000, $977,000 and $468,000, respectively.

Sears accounted for 18%, 19% and 21% of the Company’s consolidated revenues for the years ended December
31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. No other tenant accounted for more than 10% of revenues. Rents from the
Bloomberg L.P. lease will represent a significant portion of revenues in 2004,

As Lessee

The Company is a tenant under long-term leases. Future minimum lease payments under these operating leases
are as follows:

{amounts in thousands)

Year Ending December 31,

2004 ... aes $ 416
2005 ottt et s b s senne 416
2000 ..o et 416
2007 oottt 315
2008t 315
Thereafter ....coovveeceivreeeeeee s 4,217

Rent expense was $416,000 for each of the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

45.-



ALEXANDER’S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company changed its method of accounting for long-lived assets sold or held for
sale, in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. This
statement requires that the results of operations and gains and losses attributable to properties held for sale or sold
during 2002 and thereafter, such as the Third Avenue property, be classified as discontinued operations for alt
periods presented, and that any assets and liabilities of these properties be presented separately in the consolidated
balance sheets. Properties sold as a result of sales activities that were initiated prior to January 1, 2002, such as the
Fordham Road property, continue to be accounted for under the applicable prior accounting guidance.

Discontinued operations reflect the Third Avenue property and the reversal of liabilities:

(amounts in thousands) Year Ended December 31,
2003 . 2002 2001

TOtal TEVENUES. ...veveevireeeiicveeetrerrere e eresaesssanannns $ - h 1,198 $ 1,551
Less: {0tal EXPENSes ......cooerivriecmciiniiniennenisrss e, - 380 605

-- 818 946
Reversal of previously accrued contingent liabilities ... 1,206 - -
Gain on sale of Third Avenue property ............cooeeveenee. -~ 10,366 -
Income from discontinued operations...........ocvceeerurunn, $ 1,206 $§ 11,184 5 946

Third Avenue Property

On August 30, 2002, the Company sold its Third Avenue property, located in Bronx, New York. The 173,000
square foot property was sold for $15,000,000, resulting in a gain of $10,366,000. Included in the expenses relating
to the sale, the Company paid a commission of $600,000, of which $350,000 was paid to Vornado.

Fordham Road Property

On January 12, 2001, the Company sold its Fordham Road property, located in Bronx, New York. The 303,000
square foot property was sold for $25,500,000, resulting in a gain of $19,026,000. In addition, the Company repaid the
mortgage on this property at a discount, resulting in a gain from the early extinguishment of debt of $3,534,000.
Included in the expenses relating to the sale, the Company paid a commission of $1,020,000, of which $520,000 was
paid to Vornado.

Flushing Property

On May 30, 2002, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its subsidiary which owns the building and
has the ground lease for its property in Flushing, New York for $18,750,000. The Company received a non-
refundable deposit of $1,875,000 from the purchaser. By Notice of Default dated August 16, 2002, the landlord of
the premises notified the Company of certain alleged defaults under the lease including, but not limited to, the fact
that the purchaser performed unauthorized construction at the premises. The Company commenced an action
against the landlord for injunctive relief and a declaration of the rights and obligations of the parties under the lease.
The Company has obtained an injunction, which temporarily restrains the landlord from terminating the lease. On
September 6, 2002, the scheduled closing date, the Company notified the purchaser that it failed to close and is in
default of its obligations under the purchase contract. Since the purchaser has not met its obligations under the
purchase contract, the Company recognized $1,289,000 as income, representing the non-refundable deposit of
$1,875,000, net of $586,000 for costs associated with this transaction. This income is included in “Interest and other
income, net” in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2003. The
results of operations of the property were previously reported as discontinued operations in the consolidated
statements of income included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002 and were reclassified to continuing operations during the three months ended September 30, 2003. In that
period, the Company recorded $59,000 of depreciation expense that would have been recognized had the property
been continuously classified as “held and used”.
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8. DEBT
The following is a summary of the Company’s outstanding debt.
Interest
(amounts in thousands Rate at
except for percentages) December Balance at December 31,
Maturity 31, 2003 2003 2002
Construction loan, secured by the Lexington
Avenue property (see Note 4)........o...... Jan. 2006 3.64% $ 240,899 § 55,500
First mortgage, secured by the Kings Plaza
Regional Shopping Center ©............... June 2011 7.46% 216,586 219,307
Term loan and line of credit to Vornado @ Jan. 2006 12.48% 124,000 119,000
First mortgage, secured by the Rego Park I
Shopping Center @.......ccoo.cooervvvreerrernnne. June 2009 7.25% 82,000 82,000
First mortgage, secured by the Paramus
property (see Note 5) ....coccreeeereeinnnnen, Oct. 2011 5.92% 68.000 68.000

§ 731485 § 543807

® This mortgage loan, which is an obligation of a wholly owned subsidiary, bears interest at a fixed rate of
7.46% and provides for monthly principal payments based on a 27-year amortization schedule.

@ At December 31, 2003, the Company was indebted to Vomnado in the amount of $124,000, comprised of (i) a
$95,000 note and (i) $29,000 under a $50,000 line of credit (which carries a 1% unused commitment fee). The
current interest rate on the loan and line of credit is 12.48% and resets quarterly using a 9.48% spread to one-year
treasury with a 3% floor for treasuries. On July 3, 2002, in conjunction with the original closing of the
Construction Loan, the maturity of the Vornado debt was extended to the earlier of January 3, 2006 or the date
the Lexington Avenue Construction Loan is finally repaid.

The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Residential, is the borrower with respect to $40,000 of these loans,
which are guaranteed by the Company. The Company is the borrower for the remaining $84,000. The existing
collateral for each of these loans is (i) back-up guaranties given by the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries,
Alexander’s of Rego Park II, Inc. (“Rego I1I), Alexander’s of Rego Park III, Inc. (“Rego II1”) and Alexander’s of
Flushing, Inc. (“Flushing”), (ii) a pledge given by the Company of its interest in the entities holding the
commercial parcel of the Lexington Avenue property, Residential, Rego II, Rego III and Flushing, (iti) a lockbox
agreement between the Company and Vormado, giving Vomado a security interest and springing control of the
Company’s corporate bank account into which, among other things, any distributions to the Company from its
subsidiaries owning the Kings Plaza Shopping Center, the Rego Park I Shopping Center, and the Paramus
property are deposited, and (iv) unrecorded mortgages on the Rego II and Rego III properties given by such
entities to secure their guaranties. '

© This mortgage loan, which is an obligation of a wholly owned subsidiary and is guaranteed by the Company,
bears interest at a fixed rate of 7.25%. The amortization of principal begins in July 2004 based on a 30-year
schedule. .

At December 31, 2003, the principal repayments for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

(amounts in thousands)

Year Ending December 31,

2004 ... e $ 3,226
2005 ettt 3,895
2006 ..o 369,097
2007 oot ean 4,526
2008 ..cvevereeiereere ettt et es 4817
ThHETEARET «onvectrereen et e 345924

M on February 13, 2004, the Company completed a $400,000 mortgage financing on the office space at the
Lexington Avenue project (see Note 4). $240,899 of the amount shown above for the year ending December 31,
2006 was repaid with the loan proceeds.
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All of the Company’s debt is secured by mortgages and/or pledges of the stock of the subsidiaries holding the
properties. The net carrying value of real estate collateralizing the debt amounted to $773,083,000 at December 31,
2003.

The Company’s existing financing documents contain restrictive covenants which limit the ability to incur
indebtedness, make prepayments of indebtedness, pay dividends, make investments, engage in transactions with
affiliates, issue or sell capital stock of subsidiaries, create liens, sell assets, acquire or transfer property and engage in
mergers and acquisitions.

See Note 9 (Insurance) for a discussion of the insurance coverage required under the Company’s debt
instruments.

9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is a party to, nor is their property the subject of, any material
pending legal proceeding other than routine litigation incidental to their businesses. The Company believes that these
legal actions will not be material to the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

Insurance

The Company carries comprehensive liability and all-risk property insurance (fire, flood, extended coverage and
rental loss insurance) with respect to its assets but is at risk for financial loss in excess of the policies’ limits. Such a
loss could be material.

The Company’s all-risk insurance policies in effect before September 11, 2001 did not expressly exclude
coverage for hostile acts, except acts of war. Since September 11, 2001, but prior to the enactment of the Terrorism
Risk Insurance Act of 2002, insurance companies had, for the most part, excluded terrorist acts from coverage in all-
risk policies. The Company was generally unable to obtain all-risk insurance that includes coverage for terrorist acts
for policies renewed during that period.

The Company’s debt instruments, consisting of mortgage loans secured by its properties (which are generally
non-recourse to the Company), contain customary covenants requiring the Company to maintain insurance. There can
be no assurance that the lenders under these instruments will not take the position that an exclusion from all-risk
insurance coverage for losses due to terrorist acts is a breach of these debt instruments, allowing the lenders to declare
an event of default and accelerate repayment of debt. In addition, if lenders insist on coverage for these risks, it may
adversely affect the Company’s ability to finance and/or refinance its properties and businesses, including the
construction of the Lexington Avenue development property.

On November 26, 2002, the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 was signed into law. Under this new
legislation, through 2004 (with a possible extension through 2005), regulated insurers must offer coverage in their
commercial property and casualty policies (including existing policies) for losses resulting from defined “acts of
terrorism.”  As a result of the legislation, in June 2003, the Company obtained $500,000,000 of coverage per
occurrence for certified terrorist acts, as defined in the legislation, and $150,000,000 per occurrence for non-certified
acts. In addition, on February 13, 2004, the Company increased the builders’ risk insurance coverage for its Lexington
Avenue project, which includes full coverage for certified terrorist acts, per occurrence, and $200,000,000 for non-
certified acts, per-occurrence. Therefore, the Company is at risk for financial loss in excess of these limits for terrorist
acts, as defined by the policies and the legislation. Such loss could be material. Prior to June 2003, the Company had
$200,000,000 of separate aggregate coverage for terrorist acts.

Environmental Remediation

In June 1997, the Kings Plaza Regional Shopping Center commissioned an Environmental Study and
Contamination Assessment Site Investigation (the “Phase II Study”) to evaluate and delineate environmental conditions
disclosed in a Phase I study. The results of the Phase II Study indicated the presence of petroleum and bis (2-
ethylhexyl) phthalate contamination in the soil and groundwater. The Company has delineated the contamination and
has developed a remediation approach, which is ongoing. The New York State Department of Environmental
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Conservation (“NYDEC”) has approved a portion of the remediation approach. The Company accrued $2,675,000 in
previous years, of which $2,436,000 has been paid as of December 31, 2003, for its estimated obligation with respect to
the cleanup of the site, and which includes costs of (i) remedial investigation, (ii) feasibility studies, (iii) remedial
design, (iv) remedial action and (v) professional fees. Costs of future expenditures for these environmental remediation
obligations were not discounted to their present value. If NYDEC insists on a more extensive remediation approach,
the Company could incur additional obligations.

The Company has concluded that the large majority of the contamination at the site is historic and the result of
past activities of third parties. Although the Company is pursuing claims against potentially responsible third parties,
and negotiations are ongoing with a former owner of the property, there can be no assurance as to the extent that the
Company will be successful in obtaining recovery from such parties of the remediation costs incurred. In addition, the
costs associated with further pursuit of responsible parties may be cost prohibitive. The Company has not recorded an
asset as of December 31, 2003 for possible recoveries of environmental remediation costs from potentially responsible
third parties. :

Flushing Property

See Note 7 (Flushing Property), for a discussion of the litigation conceming the sale of the Company’s
subsidiary which owns the building and has the ground lease for the Company’s property in Flushing, New York.

Kings Plaza

The Company plans to construct a two-story freestanding building adjacent to the Mall of approximately
200,000 square feet. The first story of approximately 120,000 square feet will be operated as a Lowe’s Home
Improvement Warehouse (“Lowe’s”). The Lowe’s lease is expected to commence in 2006. The cost of the project will
be approximately $13 to 15 million, net of the Lowe’s reimbursement and before reimbursement, if any, from the
second story tenant(s). There can be no assurance that this project will be completed, completed on time or completed
for the budgeted amount.

Letters of Credit
Approximately $4,130,000 of standby letters of credit were issued at December 31, 2003.
10. STOCK OPTIONS AND STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS

Under the Company’s Omnibus Stock Plan (the “Plan”), originally approved by the Company’s stockholders in
May 1996, directors, officers and employees of the Company and Vornado, and any other person or entity as
designated by the Omnibus Stock Plan Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors, are eligible for grants of
incentive and non-qualified options to purchase common shares. Options granted have exercise prices equal to 100%
of the market price of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant, vest on a graduated basis, becoming fully
vested 36 months after grant, and expire ten years after grant. The Plan also provides for the award of SARs,
performance shares and restricted stock, as defined.

The 105,000 options which were outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2003 have a remaining contractual
life of 5.2 years and an exercise price of $70.38. There were no changes to the options outstanding in the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001. Shares available for future grant under the Plan at December 31, 2003 were
1,745,000.

At December 31, 2003, 850,000 SARs were outstanding and exercisable. The consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2003 includes 344,917,000 of compensation expense based on the
Company’s closing stock price of $124.66 at December 31, 2003. Since the closing stock prices at December 31,
2002 and 2001 were less than the weighted-average strike price of $71.82, there was no compensation expense in
the statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. SARs, unlike options, are not
aggregated under the REIT rules.
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11. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted (loss) income per share.

(amounts in thousands except Year Ended December 31,
shares and per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001
Numerator:
{(Loss) income from continuing operations............ccccoverrevvnnes $ (18,948) $ 12,400 3 7,414
Income from discontinued Operations...........ccovreecererrerreircnnes 1,206 11,184 946
Gain on sale of Fordham Road property.........ccovnviriririnennns -- -~ 19,026
Net (10S8) IICOME.......cveererrerririrrsierereisiemseressessstsssesseessasssnssion 5 (17,742) § 23584 § 27386
Denominator (basic and diluted) — weighted-average shares.... 5,000,850 5,000,850 5,000,850
Net (loss) income per common share (basic and diluted):
(Loss) income from continuing oOperations...........c.ceerevsvenenen $ (3.79) $ 248 $ 1.48
Income from discontinued operations.............coovirveecenneinennes 0.24 224 0.19
Gain on sale of Fordham Road property.......ccccovvevcnvinennne -- -- 3.81
Net (1088) ICOMIE. ....ecveerererninienareereriersereisesreessesseressesemereniesnenss $§ _ (3.55) $ 4.72 3 548

Options to purchase 105,000 shares of the Company’s common stock were not included in the calculations of (i)
loss per share in the year ended December 31, 2003 as they are anti-dilutive in that case and (ii) income per share in the
years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 as the average market prices of the Company’s common stock during these
years were less than the exercise prices.

12. SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS (UNAUDITED)
(amounts in thousands except per share amounts)

Income (Loss) per Common Share

Income (Loss) (Basic and Diluted)
Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued
Revenue  Operations  Operations Total Operations  Operations Total

2003
First quarter......... $ 19,723 $ 4,804 $ - $ 4,804 $ 096 $ - $ 096
Second quarter.... 20,156 (4,396) -- (4,396)" (0.88) - (0.88)
Third quarter ....... 19,902 (13,560) - (13,560)Y (2.71) - (2.71)
Fourth quarter...... 27,3819 (5,796) 1,206 (4,590) (1.16) 0.24 0.92)

2002
First quarter......... $ 18,871 $ 3,235 $ 296 $ 3,531 $ 065 $ 0.06 $ 0.71
Second quarter ... 18,762 (1,428) 295 (1,133)® (0.29) 0.06 (0.23)
Third quarter ....... 19,397 6,787 10,593 17,380% 1.36 2.12 3.48
Fourth quarter...... 19,770 3,806 - 3,806 0.76 - 0.76

® Includes an accrual for compensation expense for SARs, due to an increase in the Company’s stock price, of
$9,923, $18,708 and $16,286 in the three months ended June 30, 2003, September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2003,
respectively. Loss from continuing operations for the three months ended December 31, 2003 includes $1,289
resulting from the recognition as income of the non-refundable deposit from the planned sale of the Flushing
property of $1,875, net of $586 for costs associated with this transaction. Income from discontinued operations
for the three months ended December 31, 2003 represents the reversal of previously accrued contingent liabilities.

® Includes $5 ,081 of rent revenue (resulting from the straight-lining of base rents) on the space leased to Bloomberg
L.P. at the Lexington Avenue property.

® Includes an accrual for compensation expense for SARs of $4,236 for the three months ended June 30, 2003. This
expense was reversed in the three months ended September 30, 2003. The third quarter also includes the gain on the
sale of the Third Avenue property of $10,366.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Information concerning directors of the Company will be contained in a definitive Proxy Statement involving the
election of directors and pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The
Company will file the Proxy Statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 120 days after
December 31, 2003. Such information is incorporated by reference herein. For information concerning the executive
officers of the Company, see “Executive Officers of the Registrant” in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Also incorporated herein by reference is the information under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” of the Proxy Statement.

The Company has adopted a code of business conduct and ethics that applies to each of its Chief Executive
Officer and Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, among others. The code is posted on the Company’s
website at www. Alx-Inc.com. The Company intends to satisfy its disclosure obligation regarding amendments and
waivers of this code applicable to its Chief Executive Office and Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
by posting such information on its website at www.Alx-Inc.com.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information concerning executive compensation will be contained in the Proxy Statement referred to above in
“Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.” Such information is incorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information concerning security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and related stockholder
matters, except as set forth below, will be contained in the Proxy Statement referred to above in “Item 10. Directors and

Executive Officers of the Registrant.” Such information is incorporated by reference herein.

A summary of the Company’s equity compensation plans follows.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities
remaining available for
Number of securities future issuance under
to be issued upon Weighted-average equity compensation
exercise of exercise price of plans (excluding
outstanding options, outstanding options, securities reflected in
Plan Category warrants and rights (a) warrants and rights column (a))
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 105,000 $70.38 1,745,000
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders N/A N/A N/A
Total 105,000 $70.38 1,745,000

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Information concerning certain relationships and related transactions will be contained in the Proxy Statement
referred to above in “Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.” Such information is incorporated by
reference herein.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information concerning principal accountant fees and services will be contained in the Proxy Statement referred
to above in “Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.” Such information is incorporated by
reference herein.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a)  Documents filed as part of this Annual Report

1. The consolidated financial statements are set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

2. The following financial statement schedules should be read in conjunction with the
financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Pages in this
Annual Report
on Form 10-K
Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts — years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.........cccoevvroriorcicncerineiesieeeaceeserereresesenees 54
Schedule III - Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation as of
December 31, 2003 .. .cciiieieeeieceirecreieceri s ettt etnereeae s ba e e s an s 55

All other financial statement schedules are omitted because they are inapplicable, not
required, or the information is included elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements
or the notes thereto.

3. Exhibits:
See Exhibit Index on page 57.

(b)  Reports on Form 8-K

During the last quarter of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, Alexander’s, Inc. filed the
following report on Form 8-K:

Period Covered (Date
of Event Reported) Items Reported Date Filed
November 20, 2003 Update of Items 6, 7, and 8 and November 20, 2003
Schedule III in Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended ‘
December 31, 2002
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ALEXANDER’S, INC.
By: /s/ Joseph Macnow

Joseph Macnow
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 2, 2004

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Steven Roth Chief Executive Officer and Director March 2, 2004
Steven Roth (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Michael D. Fascitelli President and Director March 2, 2004

Michael D. Fascitelli

/s/ Joseph Macnbw Executive Vice President and Chief Financial March 2, 2004
Joseph Macnow Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting

' Officer)
/s/ Thomas R. DiBenedetto Director March 2, 2004
Thomas R. DiBenedetto
/s/ David Mandelbaum Director March 2, 2004
David Mandelbaum
/s/ Stephen Mann Chairman of the Board of Directors March 2, 2004
Stephen Mann
/s/ Arthur I. Sonnenblick Director March 2, 2004
Arthur 1. Sonnenblick
/s/ Neil Underberg Director March 2, 2004
Neil Underberg
/s/ Richard West Director March 2, 2004
Richard West
/s/ Russell B. Wight, Jr. Director March 2, 2004

Russell B. Wight, Jr.
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Exhibit
No.

3.1

32

10.1

10.2

10.3

104

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

EXHIBIT INDEX

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. Incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on
Septemnber 20, 1995 ..ottt bbb

By-laws, as amended. Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the
registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2000............

Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of 731 Residential LLC, dated as of
July 3, 2002, among 731 Residential Holding LLC, as the sole member, Domenic A.
Borriello, as an Independent Manager and Kim Lutthang, as an Independent Manager.
Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(1)(A)(1) to the registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002........ccocveorevicnivnveeennieenenennnns

Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of 731 Commercial LLC, dated as of
July 3, 2002, among 731 Commercial Holding LLC, as the sole member, Domenic A.
Borriello, as an Independent Manager and Kim Lutthang, as an Independent Manager.
Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(i)}(A)(2) to the registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002............ccccovrremiinreeccrcrieenennns

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated July 3, 2002 between 59th Street
Corporation and Vornado Lending, LLC (evidencing $40,000,000 of debt on which
59th Street Corporation became the direct borrower). Incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 10(1)(B)(1) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2002 ..o et et .

Credit Agreement, dated July 3, 2002, between Alexander’s Inc. and Vornado Lending
LLC evidencing a $20,000,000 loan. Incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit 10()(B)(2) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended JUNE 30, 2002.....c.voirereirr e b et e

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated July 3, 2002, between Alexander’s Inc.
and Vornado Lending LLC evidencing a $50,000,000 line of credit facility.
Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(1)(B)(3) to the registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2002, ..o,

Credit Agreement, dated July 3, 2002, between Alexander’s Inc. and Vormado Lending
LLC evidencing a $35,000,000 loan. Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit
10(1)(B)(4) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
JUNE 30, 2002 ..ottt ettt re b e et e ne et ae s renrerbetbeneens

Building Loan Agreement, dated as of July 3, 2002, by and between 731 Commercial LLC
and 731 Residential LLC, collectively as Borrower, and Bayerische Hypo-und
Vereinsbank AG, New York Branch, as Agent for the Lenders. Incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 10(1)(C) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2002 ... et s

Project Loan Agreement, dated as of July 3, 2002, by and between 731 Commercial LLC
and 731 Residential LLC, collectively as Borrower, and Bayerische Hypo-und
Vereinsbank AG, New York Branch, as Agent for the Lenders. Incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 10(i)(C)(1) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2002 .........coorreerniereiormemnrersseriassasesissrssssssessrsssesssss s sssassesssssess

* Incorporated by reference
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10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

Supplemental Loan Agreement, dated as of July 3, 2002, by and between 731 Commercial
LLC and 731 Residential LLC, collectively as Borrower, and Bayerische Hypo-und
Vereinsbank AG, New York Branch, as Agent for the Lenders. Incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 10(1)(C)(2) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2002 ..........cocvivirirrerrnineereser ettt et

Consolidated, Amended and Restated Building Loan Mortgage, dated as of July 3, 2002,
by and between 731 Commercial LLC and 731 Residential LLC, collectively as
Borrower, and Bayerische Hypo-und Vereinsbank AG, New York Branch, as Agent for
the Lenders. Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(i)(C)(3) to the
registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002...............

Consolidated, Amended and Restated Building Loan Note, dated as of July 3, 2002 by and
between 731 Commercial LLC and 731 Residential LLC, collectively as Borrower, and
Bayerische Hypo-und Vereinsbank AG, New York Branch, as Agent for the Lenders.
Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10())(C)(4) to the registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002......c.ccooovvrerrevnrersrecrennnnennens

Guaranty of Completion, dated as of July 3, 2002, executed by Vomado Realty L.P. for
the benefit of Bayerische Hypo-und Vereinsbank AG, New York Branch, as Agent for
the Lenders. Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(1)(C)(5) to the
registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 ...............

Guaranty of Carry Obligations, dated as of July 3, 2002, executed by Alexander's, Inc. for
the benefit of Bayerische Hypo-und Vereinsbank AG, New York Branch, as Agent for
the Lenders. - Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(i))(C)(6) to the
registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 ...............

Environmental Indemnity Agreement, dated as of July 3, 2002, executed by Alexander's,
Inc., 731 Residential LLC and 731 Commercial LLC in favor of Bayerische Hypo-und
Vereinsbank AG, New York Branch, as Agent for the Lenders. Incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 10(i)(C)(7) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2002 ........ccccoomrernriree ettt rae s e are e

Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of July 3, 2002, by and between Alexander’s, Inc.,
731 Commercial LLC, 731 Residential LLC and Vomado Realty, L.P. Incorporated
herein by reference from Exhibit 10(i)(C)(8) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 .........cccoovovmreeininnnseiecires e seeninsareens

First Omnibus Amendment to Loan Documents, dated March 5, 2003, among 731
Commercial LLC and 731 Residential LLC, collectively as Borrower, and Hypo Real
Estate Capital Corporation, as Agent for the Lenders.

Second Omnibus Amendment to Loan Documents, dated February 13, 2004, among 731
Commercial LLC and 731 Residential LLC, collectively as Borrower, and Hypo Real
Estate Capital Corporation, as Agent for the Lenders.

First Amendment to Building Loan Agreement, dated March 5, 2003, between 731
Commercial LLC and 731 Residential LLC, collectively as Borrower, and Hypo Real
Estate Capital Corporation, as Agent for the Lenders.

Second Amendment to Building Loan Agreement, dated February 13, 2004, between
731 Commercial LLC and 731 Residential LLC, collectively as Borrower, and Hypo
Real Estate Capital Corporation, as Agent for the Lenders.
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Exhibit
No.
10.20

10.21

10.22
10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26
10.27
10.28
10.29
10.30
1031
10.32
10.33
10.34

10.35

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of February 13, 2004, between 731 Office One
LLC, as Borrower and German American Capital Corporation, as Lender.

Amended, Restated and Consolidated Mortgage, Security Agreement, Financing
Statement and Assignment of Leases, Rent and Security Deposits by and between
731 Office One LLC as Borrower and German American Capital Corporation as
Lender, dated as of February 13, 2004 '

Amended, Restated and Consolidated Note, dated as of February 13, 2004, by
731 Office One LLC in favor of German American Capital Corporation.

Assignment of Leases, Rents and Security Deposits from 731 Office One LLC to
German American Capital Corporation, dated as of February 13, 2004.

Account and Control Agreement, dated as of February 13, 2004, by and among German
American Capital Corporation as Lender, and 731 Office One LLC as Borrower, and
JP Morgan Chase as Cash Management Bank.

Manager’s Consent and Subordination of Management Agreement dated February 13,
2004, by 731 Office One LLC and Alexander s Management LLC and German
American Capital Corporation.

Note Exchange Agreement dated as of February 13, 2004, by and between 731 Office
One LLC and German American Capital Corporation.

Promissory Note A-1 dated as of February 13, 2004, and 731 Office One LLC in favor
of German American Capital Corporation.

Promissory Note A-2 dated as of February 13, 2004, and 731 Office One LLC in favor
of German American Capital Corporation.

Promissory Note A-3 dated as of February 13, 2004, and 731 Office One LLC in favor
of German American Capital Corporation.

Promissory Note A-4 dated as of February 13, 2004, and 731 Office One LLC in favor
of German American Capital Corporation.

Promissory Note A-X dated as of February 13, 2004, and 731 Office One LLC in favor
of German American Capital Corporation.

Promissory Note B dated as of February 13, 2004, and 731 Office One LLC in favor of
German American Capital Corporation.

Guaranty of Recourse Obligations dated as of February 13, 2004, by Alexander’s, Inc. to
and for the benefit of German American Capital Corporation.

Environmental Indemnity dated as of February 13, 2004, by Alexander’s, Inc. and
731 Office One LLC for the benefit of German American Capital Corporation.

Amended, Restated and Consolidated Mortgage and Security Agreement, dated May 12,
1999, between The Chase Manhattan Bank, as mortgagee, and Alexander’s Rego
Shopping Center Inc., as mortgagor. Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit
10(i)(E) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
JUNE 30, 2000 ...ttt ettt et b e e teere e e e es b e s e teareeeteerteeseeneennan
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Exhibit
No.

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

1041

10.42

1043

10.44

10.45

10.46

Real Estate Retention Agreement dated as of July 20, 1992, between Vornado Realty Trust
and Keen Realty Consultants, Inc., each as special real estate consultants, and the
Company. Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(1)(O) to the registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 25, 1992 ..o

Extension Agreement to the Real Estate Retention Agreement, dated as of February 6,
1995, between the Company and Vornado Realty Trust. Incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 10(1)(G)(2) to the registrant’s Annual Report Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1994 ........coiiiinininninierincnneie s s sesssstesiesanssnsssssssnens

Amendment to Real Estate Retention Agreement, dated as of July 3, 2002, by and between
Alexander’s, Inc. and Vornado Realty, L.P. Incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit 10(i)(E)(3) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended JUNE 30, 2002........ccoiiicircire s et e n e et s bbb et esar et ere e nen et

59® Street Real Estate Retention Agreement, dated as of July 3, 2002, by and between
Vomado Realty, L.P., 731 Residential LLC and 731 Commercial LLC. Incorporated
herein by reference from Exhibit 10(()(E)(4) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 ........cccooeriieirennnnrnn et

Amended and Restated Management and Development Agreement, dated as of July 3,
2002, by and between Alexander’s, Inc., the subsidiaries party thereto and Vomado
Management Corp. Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(i)(F)(1) to the
registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 ...............

59" Street Management and Development Agreement, dated as of July 3, 2002, by and
between 731 Commercial LLC and Vornado Management Corp. Incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 10(1)(F)(2) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2002 .........cccovriernrereneenee e s esesaerae essennes

Kings Plaza Management Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2001, by and between
Alexander’s Kings Plaza LLC and Vomado Management Corp. Incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 10(i)(F)(3) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2002 ......cocereeieinriecrteee ettt et ee e nes

Agreement of Lease for Rego Park, Queens, New York, between Alexander’s, Inc. and
Sears Roebuck & Co. Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the
registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1994............

Lease for Roosevelt Avenue, Flushing, New York, dated as of December 1, 1992, between
the Company, as landlord, and Caldor, as tenant. Incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit (ii)(E)(7) to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
entded JULY 25, 1992 ...ttt ressr e esae bbbt s reas st

First Amendment to Sublease for Roosevelt Avenue, Flushing, New York, dated as of
February 22, 1995 between the Company, as sublandlord, and Caldor, as tenant.
Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(ii)(A)(8)(b) to the registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1994 ......ccvcininninennerionnniannn.

Lease Agreement, dated March 1, 1993 by and between the Company and Alex Third
Avenue Acquisition Associates. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10(ii}(F) to the
registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31,1993 .............

* Incorporated by reference
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Exhibit
No.

10.47

10.48

10.49

10.50

10.51

10.52

10.53

10.54

10.55

10.56

10.57

Agreement of Lease for Rego Park, Queens, New York, between the Company and
Marshalls of Richfield, MN, Inc., dated as of March 1, 1995. Incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 10(ii)(A)(12)(a) to the registrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 1994........c..ovicinioiniinire et seseen e

Guaranty, dated March 1, 1993, of the Lease described in Exhibit 10(i1)(A)(6)(a) above by
the Company. Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(i}(A){12)(b) to the
registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 199%4..............

Employment Agreement, dated February 9, 1995, between the Company and Stephen
Mann. Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(iii)(B) to the registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1994 ...........ccoeverivnenne.

Registrant’s Omnibus Stock Plan, as amended, dated May 28, 1997. Incorporated herein
by reference from Exhibit 10 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended JUne 30, 1997 ...t e et

Amended and Restated Consolidated Mortgage and Security Agreement dated as of
May 31, 2001 among Alexander’s Kings Plaza LLC as mortgagor, Alexander’s of King
LLC as mortgagor and Kings Parking LLC as mortgagor, collectively borrower, to
Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York, as mortgagee. Incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 10(v) Al to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2001 ... e e e re s

Amended, Restated and Consolidated Promissory Note, dated as of May 31, 2001 by and
between Alexander’s Kings Plaza LLC, Alexander’s of Kings LLC, and Kings Parking
LLC collectively borrower, and Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York, lender.
Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(v) A2 to the registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001 ........ccvnrvenvnmenniccncceirencnnns

Cash Management Agreement dated as of May 31, 2001 by and between Alexander’s
Kings Plaza LLC, Alexander’s of Kings LLC, and Kings Parking LLC collectively
borrower, and Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York, lender. Incorporated
herein by reference from Exhibit 10(v) A3 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001 ..........cocoovoirinnenerccnrnenerennnse e,

Note modification and Severance Agreement dated as of November 26, 2001, between
Alexander’s Kings Plaza LLC, Alexander’s of Kings LLC, and Kings Parking LLC
collectively borrower and JP Morgan Chase Bank of New York, lender. Incorporated
herein by reference from Exhibit 10(v){A)(4) to the registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 .......cccccovimivincnerenin e

Agreement of Lease dated as of April 30, 2001 between Seven Thirty One Limited
Partmership, landlord, and Bloomberg L.P., tenant. Incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 10(v) B to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended JUNE 30, 2001 ...ttt e ettt vb et re e bt es et s b s enensen et e e nreneanaanens

First Amendment of Lease, dated as of April 19, 2002, between Seven Thirty One Limited
Partnership, landlord and Bloomberg L.P., tenant. Incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 10(v)}(B)}(2) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2002. ... s

Loan Agreement dated as of October 2, 2001 by and between ALX of Paramus LLC as
borrower, and SVENSKA HANDELSBANKEN AB (publ), as lender. Incorporated
herein by reference from Exhibit 10(v)(C)(1) to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 ..c..oouvorrvioierrieecrcee s e nenaee
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Exhibit
No.

10.58

10.59

10.60

12

21

23

31.1

31.2

32.1

322

Mortgage, Security Agreement and Fixture Financing Statement dated as of October 2,
2001 by and between ALX of Paramus LLC as borrower, and SVENSKA
HANDELSBANKEN AB (publ), as lender. Incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit 10(v)(C)(2) to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2001 ... .o ettt ettt ra e st et e r et aeere e re s nr e beenesenes

Environmental undertaking letter dated as of October 2, 2001 by and between ALX of
Paramus LLC, as borrower, and SVENSKA HANDELSBANKEN AB (publ), as
lender. Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(v)(C)(3) to the registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 ...........c.c.cece...

Lease dated as of October 2, 2001 by and between ALX of Paramus LLC, as Landlord,
and IKEA Property, Inc. as Tenant. Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit

10(v)(C)(4) to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2001 ......oiiciceieeeiecieeierertee e e et a st st r et b s benbenbee b e reabrabenbat

Consolidated Ratios of Earnings to Fixed Charges
Subsidiaries of Registrant

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Board of Directors

Steven Roth’

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer,
Vornado Realty Trust (a real estate investment trust);
Managing General Partner, Interstate Properties (an
owner of shopping centers and an investor in
securities and partnership)

Thomas R. DiBenedetto™"

President, Boston International Group, Inc. and
Junction Investors Ltd. (investment management
firms)

Michael D. Fascitelli"
President, Vornado Realty Trust

David Mandelbaum

A member of the law firm of Mandelbaum &
Mandelbaum, P.C.; General Partner, Interstate
Properties

Stephen Mann®
Chief Executive Officer, Prescott Funding Company
(a mortgage banking firm)

Arthur I. Sonnenblick
Senior Managing Director of Sonnenblick-Goldman
Company (a real estate investment banking firm)

Neil Underberg”
Counsel, Winston & Strawn LLP, Attorneys

Dr. Richard R. West™"
Dean Emeritus, Leonard N. Stern School of Business,
New York University

Russell B. Wight, Jr.”
General Partner of Interstate Properties

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of stockholders of Alexander’s,
Inc., will be held on Wednesday, May 27, 2004 at the
Marriott Hotel, Interstate 80 and Garden State
Parkway, Saddle Brook, New Jersey 07663.

"Member of the Audit Committee

*Member of the Compensation Committee
"Member of the Executive Committee

"Member of the Omnibus Stock Plan Committee

Officers

Steven Roth
Chief Executive Officer

Stephen Mann
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Michael D. Fascitelli
President

Joseph Macnow
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Company Data

Executive Offices
210 Route 4 East,
Paramus, New Jersey 07652

Independent Auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Parsippany, New Jersey

General Counsel
Shearman & Sterling LLP
New York, New York

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Wachovia Bank, N.A.
Charlotte, North Carolina

Report on Form 10-K

Stockholders may obtain a copy of the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission free of charge
(except for exhibits) by writing to the Secretary,
Alexander’s, Inc., 210 Route 4 East, Paramus, New
Jersey 07652 or by visiting the Company’s website at
www.alx-inc.com. Stockholders may obtain a copy
of any exhibit not contained herein for a fee not to
exceed the Company’s reasonable expenses in
furnishing such exhibit.

Stock Listing
New York Stock Exchange — ALX




